FIRST STEP TOWARD A RADICAL POLYMER-BASED CONDUCTIVE ENERGETIC MATERIAL

by

Brennen Bowen

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Chemical Engineering



Davidson School of Chemical Engineering West Lafayette, Indiana May 2022

THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

Dr. Bryan W. Boudouris, Chair

School of Chemical Engineering

Dr. Stephen Beaudoin School of Chemical Engineering

Dr. Jeffrey F. Rhoads School of Mechanical Engineering

Approved by:

Dr. John Morgan

To my wife, Meg

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, Professor Boudouris, I would like to thank you for bringing me into your research group with my abbreviated timeline. Your continual guidance, feedback, and mentorship is immensely appreciated, and I greatly value the opportunity you gave me to develop as a researcher and leader in your laboratory. Professor Rhoads, I would also like to thank you for the time and support you gave to me and the project, your expertise and patience is deeply appreciated.

I would also like to thank all of the members of the POWER Lab for making my time as a researcher so enjoyable. I found conducting research to be quite demanding and frustrating but enduring the challenges with you all made it a worthwhile experience. Sid, Kelly, Cat, and Carsten, I'd also like to thank you for all the technical guidance and assistance on the project, I thoroughly enjoyed working with all of you.

Finally, thank you to the Purdue Military Research Initiative for providing me the opportunity to study and conduct research here at Purdue. I am deeply appreciative of the opportunity.

This research was sponsored by the Army Research Laboratory and was accomplished under Cooperative Agreement Number W911NF-20-2-0189. The views and conclusions contained in this document are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as representing the official policies, either expressed or implied, of the Army Research Laboratory, or the U.S. Government. The U.S. Government is authorized to reproduce and distribute reprints for Government purposes notwithstanding any copyright notation herein.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST O	PF FIGURES							
ABSTR	9. SACT							
1. INTRODUCTION TO ENERGETIC COMPOSITES AND ELECTRICA CONDUCTIVE POLYMERS								
1.1	General Introduction							
1.2	Plastic Bonded Explosives 10							
1.2	Processing							
1.2	Effect of Binder on Mechanical Properties and Sensitivity							
1.2	Effect of Strain Rate and Temperature on Mechanical Properties and Sensitivity. 13							
1.2	Effect of Particle Size Distribution on Mechanical Properties and Sensitivity 14							
1.3	Composite Propellants							
1.3	.1 Mechanical Properties							
1.3	Effect of Temperature on Ignition Behavior							
1.4	Summary of Energetic Composites							
1.5	Electrically Conductive Polymers							
1.5	Conjugated Polymers							
1.5	2.2 Radical Polymers							
1.6	Summary							
1.7	References							
2. FIR MATER	2. FIRST STEP TOWARD A RADICAL POLYMER-BASED CONDUCTIVE ENERGETIC MATERIAL							
2.1	Introduction							
2.2	Experimental							
2.2	.1 Materials							
2.2	.2 General Methods							
2.2	34 Synthesis							
2.2	.4 Mock PBX Formulation							
2.2	2.5 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis							

2.2	2.6 Electrical Conductivity Testing	36	
2.3	Results and Discussion	37	
2.4	Conclusions	49	
2.5	Supplementary Information	50	
2.6	References	61	
3. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK			
3.1	Conclusions	66	
3.2	Future Work	66	
3.3	References	68	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.2. DSC thermograms of PTEO and PTEO-GBP (a) before and (b) after thermal treatment. Before thermal treatment, PTEO-GBP has a reduced T_g compared to PTEO. After thermal treatment, its T_g increases to a similar or higher temperature compared to PTEO. PTEO-GBP(X) signifies a polymer with X% GBP, on a molar basis. Endotherms are displayed in the upward direction.

Figure 2.4. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ vs temperature for UV-treated neat polymer samples. PTEO-GBP(X) indicates a copolymer with X% GBP, on a molar basis. 42

Figure 2.6. DMA results of 90% sugar-10% polymer composites before and after UV treatment. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ are plotted versus temperature. Legend indicates the percentage of GBP, on a molar basis, in the polymer used as binder. Samples denoted as "-UV" received the UV treatment. 46

Figure 2.7. DMA and electrical conductivity results of sugar/PTEO/AgNW composites. All of the composites contained 90% solids content. For example, AgNW(3) is composed of 3% AgNWs, 87% sugar, 10% PTEO, on a mass basis. All of the PTEO used was PTEO homopolymer. Sample denoted as PTEO in the legend did not contain AgNWs. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ of composites versus temperature. (d) Conductivity of the composites as a function of nanowire loading. 48

Figure 2.S1. Chemical structures of polymers used as binders. Left: PTEO. Right: PTEO-GBP. 50

Figure	2.S2.	NMR	Characterization	of G	GBP.	(a)	Full	spectrum.	(b)	Aromatic	region	of	the
spectru	m			•••••	•••••					•••••	•••••	•••••	. 51
Figure	2 5 2 1	NMR (haracterization of	PTF	0								52

Figure 2.55. WWK Characterization of FTEO.	52
Figure 2.S4. NMR Characterization of PTEO-GBP	52
Figure 2.S5. FTIR characterization of TEO, GBP, and PTEO-GBP.	53
Figure 2.S6. EPR Characterization of PTEO and PTEO-GBP.	53

Figure 2.S7. SEC traces of PTEO and PTEO-GBP polymers. The synthetic procedure produced consistent molecular weights. PTEO-GBP(12.6) had an anomalous molecular weight distribution, resulting in a significantly higher glass transition temperature as determined by DMA. Number average molecular weight (M_n) of PTEO = 4720 g/mol, Polydispersity (PDI) of PTEO = 2.25. PTEO-GBP(2.6) $M_n = 5150$ g/mol, PDI = 1.88. PTEO-GBP(8.5) $M_n = 5073$, PDI = 1.77. PTEO-GBP(12.6) first peak $M_n = 152354$ g/mol, PDI = 2.72. PTEO-GBP(12.6) second peak $M_n = 2316$ g/mol, PDI = 3.30.

Figure 2.S9. Frequency sweep DMA experiments of neat PTEO-GBP(3.8) and PTEO-GBP(16.3) samples after UV crosslinking. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ is plotted from 10^{-2} to 10^{2} Hz.

Figure 2.S10. DMA of a composite composed of 90 wt% sugar and 10 wt% PTEO-GBP(8.5) as the binder. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ plotted versus temperature..... 56

ABSTRACT

Plastic bonded explosives (PBXs) and composite propellants (CPs) have yet to fully leverage the electrically conductive capability of polymers and nanomaterials. A PBX or CP with a high degree of electrical conductivity could be utilized for many different applications. In this work, an electrically conductive radical polymer is used as a binder in mock PBX formulations. Specifically, poly(4-glycidyloxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl) (PTEO) was copolymerized with glycidyloxy-benzophenone (GBP) to create PTEO-*co*-GBP (PTEO-GBP), and this was blended with sugar, which acted as a solid energetic simulant. Crosslinking of PTEO-GBP and the sugar-PTEO-GBP composites revealed both thermal and UV curing mechanisms for the polymer. Finally, silver nanowires (AgNWs) were added to impart macroscale conductivity to the mock PBX composites. Due to the intrinsic conductivity of the PTEO moiety, only low loadings of AgNWs were required to observe an electrical conductivity of ~1 S cm⁻¹. Additionally, this level of AgNWs mechanically reinforced the composite, producing a mechanically robust mock PBX. Thus, this study presents the first step in developing a highly conductive energetic composite that utilizes a radical polymer as the binder and is capable of being resistively heated.

1. INTRODUCTION TO ENERGETIC COMPOSITES AND ELECTRICALLY CONDUCTIVE POLYMERS

1.1 General Introduction

Composite energetics are a broad class of materials that are composed of high energy solids distributed in a polymer binder. Plastic bonded explosives (PBXs) are a subcategory of composite energetics where the energetic particles are high explosives that are capable of violent detonation.^{1,2} On the other hand, composite propellants (CPs) are another category of composite energetics where the energetic particles burn (instead of detonating) to produce a sustained flow of hot gases.^{1,3}

This introduction will outline different factors that affect the mechanical properties and combustion behavior in PBXs and CPs. Then, the development of electrically conductive polymers will be discussed. Specifically, conjugated polymers and open-shell radical polymers will be considered with an emphasis on their mechanical properties and how they could impact the field of composite energetics.

1.2 Plastic Bonded Explosives

PBXs contain a high weight percentage of explosive crystals (~85-98%) and a small percentage of polymer serving as a binder.^{1,2,4} Even though these binders are present in small proportions, they have a large impact on the properties of the composite material. Specifically, they provide dimensional stability,^{2,4,5} mechanical strength,^{2,4} and reduced sensitivity^{4,6-9} to the final explosive material. While the binder has a large influence on the mechanical properties and sensitivity of a PBX, other factors affect these characteristics as well. Temperature, strain rate, and particle size all have a strong influence on the mechanical properties of PBXs. Furthermore, temperature and particle size have a pronounced influence on the sensitivity of PBXs.

1.2.1 Processing

PBXs can be processed by a variety of techniques. Two commonly used procedures are the cast-cure and solvent-antisolvent methods. The cast-cure method involves mixing the ingredients – binder, explosive, curing agent, and other ingredients – together, pouring the mixture into a mold,

and giving the mixture time to cure (harden).^{5,6,10} This process is prevented from producing the highest solids loading PBXs due to an increase in viscosity as solids loading increases. Therefore, at very high (>90% by weight) solids loading, the uncured mixture is too viscous to pour into a mold.⁵

Alternatively, the solvent-antisolvent method of mixing explosive crystals and binders can achieve very high solids loading. In this method, the explosive particles are suspended in a non-solvent and the binder, dissolved in an immiscible good solvent, is added to the suspension. The good solvent is evaporated from the mixture and the binder subsequently precipitates onto the explosive particles suspended in the water to form a molding powder.^{11,12} The molding powder is heated (25-150 °C) and pressed (100-200 MPa) to form high-density charges. These charges are then remotely machined to form into the desired shape.¹²

1.2.2 Effect of Binder on Mechanical Properties and Sensitivity

There has been a significant effort devoted to understanding the effect PBX binders have on the mechanical properties of the entire composite. In general, compliant binders produce PBXs with reduced stiffnesses and strengths as compared to PBXs bound with stiff binders.^{4,13-15} PBX 9501 is a PBX consisting of 95% (by weight) octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX) and 5% plasticized Estane binder and PBX-9502 consists of 95% 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6trinitrobenzene (TATB) and 5% Kel F-800 binder. When subjected to tensile loading under identical testing conditions, PBX-9502 displayed a strength of 3.23 MPa compared to 0.78 MPa for PBX 9501.⁴ Considering these two PBXs have the same solids loading, this large difference in tensile strength is explained by the different binders. The plasticized Estane in PBX 9501 has a glass transition temperature (Tg) of approximately -50 °C and the Kel F-800 used in PBX 9502 has a T_g of ~30 °C.¹⁶ Therefore, the much higher strength in PBX 9502 is accounted for by its much stiffer, glassy binder compared to the soft, rubbery binder in PBX 9501. In a different study that investigated the mechanical behavior of PBX 9501 and 9502, the compressive modulus and strength as well as the tensile modulus and strength of PBX 9502 was greater than PBX 9501. Additionally, PBX 9501 showed dramatically more creep compliance than PBX 9502.¹³ Thus, binders with higher stiffnesses produce stronger and more dimensionally stable PBXs. Moreover, the proportion of binder in a PBX also influences its mechanical properties. When the percentage of plasticized Estane in PBX 9501 was increased from 5% to 8%, the compressive strength and modulus decreased at low strain rates (0.001-0.45 s⁻¹). At high strain rates (~2000-2500 s⁻¹), however, the increased proportion of binder had little effect on the mechanical strength of the PBX. Though the strength of the PBX at high strain rates was similar with 5 and 8% plasticized Estane, the mechanical response was distinctly different between the two formulations. At high strain rates, the PBX with 8% binder exhibited a much more gradual decrease in stress after the max stress was reached.¹⁴ These high and low strain rate results demonstrate that when a higher percentage of soft binder is used, the PBX displays more ductile behavior.¹⁴ Together, the results from many studies establish the large effect the binder has on the ultimate mechanical properties of a PBX.

In addition to improving the mechanical properties of a high explosive, the binder in a PBX also reduces the sensitivity to undesired insults.^{6,7,9,17,18} Hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX), a powerful secondary explosive, exhibited significantly reduced impact and friction sensitivities after being coated with a soft, rubbery binder, hydroxyl terminated polybutadiene (HTPB). As determined by a drop hammer test, the impact sensitivity of RDX increased from 37.2 cm to 66.5 cm after being coated with 2% HTPB. Additionally, friction sensitivity tests revealed that the explosion probability of RDX decreased from 92 to 16% after being coated with 2% HTPB. Therefore, HTPB-bound RDX has reduced impact and friction sensitivity compared to RDX.⁷ Also, the sensitivity of a PBX increases as the stiffness of the binder increases. In a series of experiments where HTPB and polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) were used as binders for PBXs containing 85% HMX and 15% binder, the tensile modulus of the binders was varied by adjusting the binder and amount of curing agent. Above a certain binder tensile modulus (~2 MPa), the drop energy required to ignite the PBXs only decreased slightly. However, when the tensile modulus was reduced below 2 MPa, the drop energy required to ignite the PBX increased precipitously.¹⁷ These results suggest that the impact sensitivity of a PBX decreases as the stiffness of its binder decreases. Furthermore, there could be a threshold stiffness above which the impact sensitivity is relatively unchanged and below which the impact sensitivity decreases steeply.¹⁷ Additionally, impact sensitivity tests conducted on PBXs containing 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene (TATB), an extremely insensitive high explosive,¹⁹ further revealed the importance of the binder on the sensitivity of PBXs. When a PBX composed of 95% TATB and 5% HTPB underwent an impact sensitivity test, it showed no evidence of ignition. Meanwhile, when a PBX composed of 95% TATB and 5% Kel F-800 underwent the same impact test, it showed evidence of a low order ignition.²⁰ As mentioned above, Kel F-800 is a glassy polymer with a dramatically higher elastic

modulus than HTPB. Therefore, these tests display how a soft binder with a low modulus (HTPB) can dampen energy delivered to an explosive and prevent ignition while a stiff binder (Kel F-800) did not prevent TATB from igniting.²⁰ Together, these studies reveal that binders reduce the sensitivity of PBXs, with compliant binders exerting a greater desensitizing effect than stiff binders.

PBXs are advantageous in certain applications due to the mechanical integrity^{4,13} and decreased sensitivity^{4,6-9} the binder confers to the composite. However, a compromise must be found between the desensitizing and strengthening effect of the binder. Highly compliant binders have a greater desensitizing effect on PBXs than stiff binders.^{6,9,17} Thus, the stiffness of a binder used in a PBX is limited by the sensitivity of the explosive and how much desensitization is needed to make the explosive safe to handle. For example, the secondary explosives HMX and RDX are much more sensitive to shock impulse than TATB.¹⁹ Therefore, HMX and RDX are primarily bound with soft binders that can dampen shock insults and reduce energy delivered to the explosives, making them less sensitive.^{9,18} Alternatively, because of TATB's insensitivity to shock and impact,¹⁹ it can be bound with softer, energy absorbing binders.^{20,21} Thus, the binder used in a PBX must optimize both the mechanical properties and sensitivity of the composite.

1.2.3 Effect of Strain Rate and Temperature on Mechanical Properties and Sensitivity

The strength and Young's modulus of polymers is known to increase with increasing strain rate and decreasing temperature.²²⁻²⁴ This effect is thought to be due to a decrease in polymer mobility at high strain rates and low temperatures that results in a stiffening effect.^{22,25} In general, PBXs also exhibit an increase in strength and Young's modulus as strain rate increases and temperature decreases.^{13,14,26-29} The degree of strain rate and temperature dependence of a PBX's mechanical properties varies depending on the binder. For example, the strength of PBX 9502 increased by a factor of 1.6 when strain increased from 0.001 s⁻¹ to 1400 s⁻¹. In contrast, the strength of PBX 9501 increased by a factor of 7 under comparable experimental conditions.²⁹ Furthermore, the strain rate and temperature dependence of Kel F-800 (the binder in PBX 9502) is much less than Estane (the binder in PBX 9501), suggesting the difference in strain rate and temperature dependence of the two PBXs is driven by the strain rate and temperature dependence of the binders.²⁹

In addition to affecting the mechanical properties of PBXs, temperature can also significantly alter the sensitivity of PBXs. The shock sensitivity of LX-04, a PBX composed of 85% HMX and 15% Viton binder, was measured at ambient temperature and 170 °C. The PBX had shorter run distances to detonation at 170 °C compared to ambient temperature, indicating increased shock sensitivity at elevated temperatures.³⁰ HMX undergoes a solid phase transition at ~165 °C, which results in a slight volume expansion of the explosive crystal. Further shock sensitivity experiments elucidated that LX-04 had nearly identical shock sensitivities at 150 °C and 170 °C, suggesting that the increase in sensitivity at elevated temperatures is due to the temperature increase and not the associated decrease in density of the HMX crystals.³¹ Furthermore, the shock sensitivity of LX-17 and PBX 9502, two TATB based PBXs, has been measured at extreme temperatures. In these experiments, it was found that the run distance to detonation decreased as temperature increased for these PBXs, again indicating increased shock sensitivity as temperature increased.^{21,32} Specifically, the shock sensitivity of PBX 9502 and LX-17 at 252 °C was similar to the shock sensitivity of the much more sensitive PBX 9501 at ambient temperature.²¹ Additionally, when shock sensitivity experiments were performed on an RDXbased aluminized PBX, increasing the temperature from ambient to 110 °C resulted in a decrease in shock sensitivity. When the temperature was increased above 110 °C, the shock sensitivity of the aluminized PBX increased.³³ Though temperature clearly affects the sensitivity of PBXs, the effect temperature has on sensitivity varies between different systems.

1.2.4 Effect of Particle Size Distribution on Mechanical Properties and Sensitivity

Another factor that influences the mechanical properties of PBXs is the particle size of the energetic materials. Generally, as particle size of the energetic filler decreases, the strength and modulus of the PBX increase.^{15,34,35} This effect was demonstrated when mock PBX 9501 and PBX 9502 was formulated with 5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine (IDOX) as the solid filler instead of HMX and TATB particles. These mock PBXs were fabricated with varying IDOX particle size distributions. The PBX 9502 mock material exhibited greater compressive strength and moduli compared to the PBX 9501 mock material, regardless of particle size. The greater strength and stiffness of PBX 9502 was due to the stiff binder, Kel F-800, present in PBX 9502 compared to the soft binder, Estane, used in PBX 9501. The PBX 9501 formulation with the greatest compressive strength and modulus contained the smallest particles used in the study (<75 μ m) and the PBX 9501 formulation

with the lowest compressive strength and modulus contained the largest particles used (>150 μ m). Similarly, the mock PBX 9502 material with the greatest strength contained the smallest IDOX particles and the PBX 9502 formulation with the least strength had the largest IDOX particles.¹⁵ Additionally, high strain rate stress-strain experiments of PBXs containing 88% (by weight) RDX and 12% HTPB with different RDX particle sizes have been performed. When the average RDX particle size was 159 μ m, the strength of the PBX was greater compared to a PBX with an average RDX particle size of 710 μ m. Additionally, the smaller particles.³⁴ Moreover, when the mechanical properties of a PBX containing 97.5% (by weight) HMX were investigated as HMX particle size was varied, the results again suggest that as particle size decreases, the strength and modulus increase. In this effort, the diameter of HMX particles were 0.1-0.3 μ m, 1-2 μ m, or 10-20 μ m. The compressive strength of the PBX increased from 14.55 MPa to 43.76 MPa when the particle size was decreased from 10-20 μ m to 0.1-0.3 μ m. The compressive modulus increased from 0.69 GPa to 1.75 GPa with the same change in HMX particle size.³⁵ Thus, it has been clearly demonstrated that the strength and stiffness of PBXs increase as the particle size of the explosive filler decreases.

The particle size of explosive crystals in PBXs also affects the sensitivity of the composite material. The shock sensitivity of PBXC03 has been investigated as a function of HMX particle size. PBXC03 is constituted of 87% (by weight) HMX, 6.76% TATB, and 7% Viton binder. The particle diameter of HMX was either 20-30 μ m, 70-90 μ m, or 110-130 μ m. Shock sensitivity experiments driven by an external explosive detonation revealed that as HMX particle size decreased, the run distance to detonation decreased, indicating smaller particle sizes result in a more shock sensitive PBX.³⁶ Alternatively, in the PBXs containing 97.5% HMX discussed above, drop hammer impact tests revealed that the impact sensitivity of those formulations decreased as particle size decreased.³⁵ Thus, these two studies suggest that decreasing the particle size of explosive crystals in PBXs increases the shock sensitivity and decreases the low-speed impact sensitivity of a PBX. Another reason for these two seemingly contradictory results could be that the shock sensitivity tests were performed on a PBX with particle sizes in the range of 20-130 μ m while the low-speed impact sensitivity tests were performed on a PBX with particle sizes in the range of 0.1-20 μ m. In any case, it is evident that particle size influences the sensitivity of PBXs.

1.3 Composite Propellants

Composite propellants (CPs) are another class of energetic composites that are designed to deflagrate (burn) to generate hot gases and produce sustained thrust.^{1,3} CPs are heterogeneous mixtures of crystalline oxidizer, metallic fuel, and polymeric binders. CP binders are used to hold the different components together, provide mechanical integrity, and act as a secondary fuel.^{3,37} First generation CPs were composed of only a binder and an oxidizer, with the binder acting as the sole fuel source for the oxidizer.³⁸ However, since it was discovered that aluminum powder could increase the specific impulse of CPs,³⁸ it is commonly added to CP formulations.^{3,37,38} Common CPs utilize ammonium perchlorate (AP) as the crystalline oxidizer, aluminum (Al) powder as the fuel, and HTPB as the binder.^{3,38} HTPB is the most commonly used binder due to its superior mechanical and aging properties as compared to other CP binders.³⁷⁻⁴² Furthermore, HTPB has a low viscosity, which permits high solids loading and the ability for the composite to be castcured.^{6,42} While PBXs are prepared by the solvent-antisolvent and the cast-curing method, CPs are primarily prepared by the casting method.³⁷ The cast-cure process requires low-viscosity binders, so the end-mix viscosity is sufficiently low to allow pouring of the composite mixture into a mold or rocket motor.^{37,43} While the preparation of CPs is different than some PBXs, many of the same formulation-mechanical property relationships exist. However, the ignition behavior of CPs are much different than PBXs as they are designed for a different application.

1.3.1 Mechanical Properties

As mentioned above, the effect of strain-rate, temperature, and particle size on the mechanical properties of CPs are similar to their effect on PBXs. For one, as strain rate increases⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ and temperature decreases,⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷ the strength and modulus of HTPB-based CPs increase. Additionally, in an HTPB-RDX-Al PBX where HTPB was present at 15% (by weight), as the particle size of aluminum was decreased from 860-1680 µm to 120-250 µm, the compressive strength of the composite increased from 9.82 kg cm⁻² to 13.83 kg cm⁻².⁴⁸ While these results are from a PBX, they are representative of common HTPB-AP-Al CPs, as the composition is similar to commonly used CP formulations. Thus, the strengthening effect observed in PBXs when decreasing particle size is also seen in CP formulations. Together, the dependence of CP's

mechanical properties on strain rate, temperature, and particle size reveal that CPs exhibit similar mechanical behavior to PBXs.

1.3.2 Effect of Temperature on Ignition Behavior

While the mechanical property considerations of CPs are similar to PBXs, the combustion behavior is different. That is, PBX are designed to detonate and CPs are designed to burn, produce hot gases, and generate thrust.^{1,3} Whereas temperature and particle size effects the sensitivity of PBXs in transitioning to detonation, these variables effect the burn rate of CPs. As the initial temperature of AP-based CP grains increase, the burn rate also increases.^{49,50} Additionally, as the particle size of AP decreases, the burn rate increases.⁵¹

Even though CPs are designed to resist detonating when exposed to unwanted impact or shock impulses, there are instances when these propellants transition to detonation and rapidly release their chemical energy.⁵²⁻⁵⁴ To investigate the effect of temperature on a CP's tendency to transition to detonation, shock sensitivity experiments at ambient and elevated temperatures were performed on a CP composed of 73% (by weight) AP, 15% Al, and 12% carboxy terminated polybutadiene (CTPB) as the binder. In these experiments, the shock sensitivity of the CP was nearly identical at ambient temperature and 170 °C.⁵⁴ Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that an elastomer modified cast double-base propellant (EMCDBP) has a reduced sensitivity to impact ignition when it is heated above the glass transition temperature of the elastomer.⁵⁵ An EMCDBP is another type of solid propellant, a cast double-base propellant, with a polymer binder added to improve its mechanical properties.³⁷ While it might be expected that a solid propellant's sensitivity to detonation would increase with increasing temperature, these shock and impact sensitivity results demonstrate the complex temperature-sensitivity relationship present in solid propellants that contain polymer binders.

1.4 Summary of Energetic Composites

The mechanical properties and sensitivity of energetic composites are influenced by a variety of factors, with the polymer binder having an outsized influence on these properties given its relatively low weight percentage. In both PBXs and CPs, the binder serves to improve the mechanical integrity and decrease the sensitivity of the composites. Furthermore, the combustion

behavior of PBXs and CPs is highly dependent on temperature. Therefore, the ability to modulate the temperature of these energetic composites in real time could provide a way to adjust the performance of these materials on demand. If a composite energetic material was electrically conductive, it could be heated by Joule heating, thus providing a method to modulate its temperature on demand. With an understanding of the mechanical properties of PBXs and CPs, it becomes possible to utilize electrically conductive polymers as binders to confer conductivity to the composites while retaining favorable mechanical properties.

1.5 Electrically Conductive Polymers

Traditionally, polymers are electrically insulating, stifling the flow of electrons. However, in recent years, polymers with electrical conductivity have been realized and the emergence of these conductive polymers brings about the possibility of producing conductive energetic composites. There are two broad classes of polymers capable of conducting electrons, conjugated polymers and radical polymers. The most widely studied are conjugated polymers, which have a large degree of conjugation in their macromolecular backbone.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹ Alternatively, radical polymers have recently been found to be electrically conductive and their utility in organic electronics is being explored by several researchers.⁵⁹⁻⁶⁸ As conjugated polymers have been the subject of many research efforts, their mechanical properties have been thoroughly investigated.⁶⁹⁻⁷⁴ On the other hand, the mechanical properties of radical polymers have not been examined. In the following sections, the mechanical properties of conjugated polymers will be discussed along with their potential application as binders in energetic materials. Furthermore, radical polymers will be introduced and their potential advantages as binders in composite energetics will be considered.

1.5.1 Conjugated Polymers

Conjugated polymers are a class of polymers that have alternating single and double bonds in their macromolecular backbone.^{56,57} In their pristine state, these polymers can exhibit either insulating or semiconducting behavior.⁵⁷ Once a conjugated polymer is reduced or oxidized with a dopant, electrons are added to or taken from the polymer, respectively. This results in the polymer having an excess of electrons or a deficiency of electrons (holes) in the conjugated system, giving the polymer charge carriers that enable the conduction of electrons.^{56-58,75} The large amount of π bonds present in conjugated polymers allow these charge carriers to delocalize and move through the polymer.⁵⁷ The sp² hybridization of carbon atoms in the polymer backbone allows for charge transport but also causes stiffness in conjugated polymers.⁷⁶ For this reason, conjugated polymers are generally mechanically stiff. This characteristic of conjugated polymers could limit their use as binders in composite energetics. Specifically, PBXs generally utilize compliant binders to reduce the sensitivity of the high explosive and CPs employ compliant binders to enable castcuring and allow for high strain tolerances.⁷⁷

Much of the research concerning the mechanical properties of conjugated polymers has been done with thin films due to their widespread use in solar cells, transistors, and other devices in thin film form.⁷¹ A widely used technique for determining the tensile modulus of polymer thin films is the buckling instability technique. This method has been used to measure Young's moduli of polymer thin films in agreement with the moduli of bulk polymers. However, when film thicknesses fall below 40 nm, Young's moduli measured by the buckling instability technique have been observed to deviate from the moduli measured from bulk polymer samples.⁷⁸ In the studies discussed below, all the polymer films measured were greater than 50 nm in thickness. Thus, a discussion concerning the mechanical properties of conjugated polymer thin films and their utility as binders in composite energetic materials is valid and useful.

The stiff mechanical behavior of highly conjugated polymers is demonstrated by a study that investigated the mechanical properties of over 40 low bandgap conjugated polymers by the buckling instability technique. In this work, the authors found that the tensile modulus of the polymers were between 0.150 GPa and 3.79 GPa.⁷² For reference, HTPB, the thermoset elastomer used extensively as a CP binder, has a tensile modulus between 0.05 and 3.10 MPa.^{79,80} Thus, the low bandgap conjugated polymers had stiffnesses 2-5 orders of magnitude greater than HTPB. Furthermore, the authors observed that polymers containing fused rings in their backbone had higher tensile moduli than polymers with isolated rings in their main chain. Additionally, they found that polymers with branching side chains had lower stiffnesses, which they attributed to a likely decrease in crystallinity that resulted from reduced packing efficiency of polymer chains.⁷² This is an expected result, as conjugated polymers with longer side groups have been reported to have lower tensile moduli in other works, as well. When the length of the side chain in poly(3-alkylthiophene) (P3AT) was increased from 4 to 8 carbon atoms, the tensile modulus decreased

from 1.87 GPa to 0.15 GPa.⁷³ Thus, it has been demonstrated that larger side groups in conjugated polymers decreases their stiffness.

While decreasing the number of fused rings in the backbone and increasing the size of side groups decreases the stiffness of conjugated polymers, increasing molecular weight of conjugated polymers increases their ductility. As measured by the buckling instability technique, the crack onset strain of poly(3-hexylthiophene) (P3HT) increased from 2.83% to 31.17% when the molecular weight increased from 15 to 80 kg mol⁻¹.⁷¹ In a separate study, when bulk P3HT samples were tested, the elongation at break increased from ~25% to ~300% when the molecular weight increasing the molecular weight of polythiophene-based conjugated polymers increases their ability to deform plastically.

An important factor contributing to the conductivity of conjugated polymers is their crystallinity. Crystallinity in conjugated polymers has been demonstrated to increase their conductivity. In solar cells containing P3HT, a widely used conjugated polymer, the charge transport was improved by thermally annealing the cells, which was attributed to increased crystallinity in the P3HT component of the solar cells.⁸² Furthermore, the conductivity of poly(3-octylthiophene) (P3OT), a polymer with a similar structure to P3HT, increased from 15 S cm⁻¹ to 40 s cm⁻¹ when the percent crystallinity of the polymer increased from 3% to 14%.⁷⁵ Moreover, the mechanical properties and field effect mobility of two polymers, P3HT and poly(2,5-bis(3-alkylthiophene-2-yl)thieno[3,2-b]thiophene) (pBTTT), a conjugated copolymer, were investigated. It was found that in these chemically similar polymers, as the tensile modulus increased, the field effect mobility increased as well. Furthermore, these two characteristics both increased with increasing crystallinity. Thus, it was demonstrated that not only does crystallinity improve the charge transport in conjugated polymers, but it also increases the stiffness of these polymers.⁸³

Many research efforts have focused on understanding the structure-mechanical property relationships in conjugated polymers. Meanwhile, other researchers have physically mixed conjugated polymers with other molecules to enhance their mechanical properties. A striking example of this approach is the addition of Zonyl, a plasticizer, to poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) doped with poly(styrene sulfonate) (PEDOT:PSS) to dramatically increase its compliance. PEDOT:PSS is a conjugated polymer, PEDOT, doped with the polyelectrolyte PSS and is a commonly used conjugated polymer that is known to be very stiff and

brittle. When prepared in a solution of 5% (by weight) DMSO, the tensile modulus of PEDOT:PSS was found to decrease from 7.49 GPa to 0.03 GPa when the Zonyl concentration increased from 0.1% to 10% (by weight). Importantly, the polymer maintained its high electrical performance as the stiffness dramatically decreased.⁷⁴ Therefore, this result demonstrates that the high stiffness of conjugated polymers can be decreased by the addition of small molecules.

While different strategies have been shown to increase the compliance and ductility of conjugated polymers, the mechanism by which they conduct charge biases them towards stiff, brittle behavior. The stiffness of conjugated polymers could be a barrier to using them as binders for energetic composites because binders used for PBXs and CPs are generally much more compliant. Adjusting the molecular structure or adding plasticizing molecules to conjugated polymers are strategies that could result in conductive polymers being compliant enough for use in energetic composites. Another strategy to achieve both compliance and electrical conductivity is to utilize polymers that can conduct charge by a mechanism that is not dependent on the stiff, inflexible π bonds present in conjugated polymers.

1.5.2 Radical Polymers

In contrast to conjugated polymers, radical polymers lack conjugation in their main chain and possess substituents that contain stable radicals.^{59,62} These stable radicals are long-lived due to stabilization arising from highly conjugated or sterically bulky side groups.⁵⁹ The unpaired electrons in radical polymers allow for oxidation-reduction (redox) self-exchange reactions, enabling charge transport in the solid state.^{59,62} An increasing interest in radical polymers in recent years has resulted in the discovery of multiple polymers that possess electrical conductivities between 10⁻⁴ and 10⁻⁶ S cm⁻¹.^{63,66,84,85} Furthermore, the radical polymer with the highest reported electrical conductivity, poly(4-glycidyloxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl) (PTEO), has been demonstrated to have a conductivity of ~ 0.1 S cm⁻¹ at length scales less than 600 nm.^{60,65} Because of their relatively recent introduction to the academic research landscape, the mechanical properties of radical polymers have not yet been explored. However, because the conductivity of radical polymers is not dependent on rigid π bonds in their main chain, they present an opportunity to develop polymers that are both conductive and compliant. In this way, radical polymers could provide a means to imparting electrical conductivity to energetic composite materials, while retaining the favorable mechanical and sensitivity properties observed in traditional PBXs and CPs.

While the mechanical properties of radical polymers have not been investigated, recent studies on the electrical properties of novel radical polymers give insight on potential structuremechanical property relationships in these polymers. For example, poly(2,2,6,6tetramethylpiperidinyloxy methacrylate) (PTMA), has a modest electrical conductivity of 10⁻⁶ S cm^{-1} with a T_g of ~170 °C.⁶³ PTEO, whose structure is very similar to PTMA, demonstrated the record breaking conductivity for a radical polymer of ~0.1 S cm⁻¹, with a T_g of ~20 $^{\circ}$ C.⁶⁵ The much higher conductivity of PTEO compared to PTMA is attributed to the increased chain mobility of PTEO which allows for chain reorganization and formation of radical networks upon thermal annealing.65 In other words, the increased electrical performance is associated with a softening (decreased T_g) of PTEO compared to PTMA. This is in contrast to conjugated polymers, where crystallization and hardening of the polymers tend to correlate with an increase in charge carrier mobility.^{75,76,82,83} Furthermore, poly[2,6-di-tert-butyl-4-((3,5-di-tertbutyl-4-(λ 1oxidaneyl)phenyl)(4-((3-(methoxydimethylsilyl)propoxy) methyl)phenyl)methylene)cyclo- hexa-2,5-dien-1-one] (PGMS), a radical polymer with a Tg of -20 °C, achieved a solid state conductivity of 10⁻⁴ S cm⁻¹.⁶⁶ The conductivity of PGMS likely did not reach the level of PTEO due to low radical content in the polymer.⁶⁶ Still, this result further demonstrates that improvements in the conductivity of radical polymers can be made while simultaneously softening the polymers. Because polymer binders for energetic composites are often soft and compliant, the ability to improve the electrical performance of radical polymers while simultaneously lowering their T_g makes them attractive for this application. Mechanical characterization of candidate radical polymer binders is still needed. However, studies concerning the electrical properties of radical polymers are promising in terms of their potential for concurrent optimization of their electrical and mechanical performance for composite energetic binder applications.

1.6 Summary

PBXs and CPs are two classes of energetic materials that utilize polymers as binders to improve the mechanical, sensitivity, and processing properties of the composites. While many factors contribute to the final mechanical properties and sensitivity of PBXs and CPs, the binder has a significant influence on these characteristics. Typically, the polymer used as the binder is compliant enough to desensitize the energetic material and to improve the ease of processing. Meanwhile, conjugated polymers, the most widely studied and high performing electrically conducting polymers, exhibit stiff and brittle behavior due to the high number of π bonds in their main chain. Therefore, to confer electrical conductivity to energetic composites using conductive binders, the stiffness of conductive polymers must be addressed. There have been research efforts devoted to increasing the compliance of conjugated polymers by modifying their structure and mixing them with other molecules. Another strategy for decreasing the stiffness of conductive polymers for use as binders in energetic materials is to utilize polymers that are not dependent on extensive conjugation in their main chain to conduct charge. Radical polymers transport charge through a mechanism not involving main chain conjugation, thereby presenting an opportunity to achieve compliance and conductivity in polymers. Thus, radical polymers could present alternative binders for energetic composites that contain the same compliance of traditional binders, but also offer electrical conductivity to the final energetic material.

1.7 References

- (1) Cooper, P. W.; Kurowski, S. R., Chemistry of Explosives, in: *Introduction to the Technology of Explosives*. Wiley, New York, **1996**.
- (2) James, E. The Development of Plastic Bonded Explosives. Lawrence Radiation Laboratory, Livermore, CA, **1965**, Report No. UCRL-12439-T.
- (3) Chaturvedi, S.; Dave, P. N. Solid Propellants: AP/HTPB Composite Propellants. *Arab. J. Chem.* **2019**, *12* (8), 2061-2068.
- (4) Palmer, S. J. P.; Field, J. E.; Huntley, J. M. Deformation, Strengths and Strains to Failure of Polymer Bonded Explosives. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A.* **1993**, *440*, 399-419.
- (5) Provatas, A. Formulation and Performance Studies of Polymer Bonded Explosives (PBX) Containing Energetic Binder Systems. Part I. Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Edinburgh, Australia, 2003, Report No. DSTO-TR-1397.
- (6) Daniel, M. A. Polyurethane Binder Systems for Polymer Bonded Explosives. Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Edinburgh, Australia, 2006, Report No. DSTO-GD-0492.
- (7) An, C. W.; Guo, X. D.; Song, X. L.; Wang, Y.; Li, F. S. Preparation and Safety of Well-Dispersed RDX Particles Coated with Cured HTPB. J. Energ. Mater. 2009, 27 (2), 118-132.
- (8) Singh, A.; Kumar, M.; Soni, P.; Singh, M.; Srivastava, A. Mechanical and Explosive Properties of Plastic Bonded Explosives Based on Mixture of HMX and TATB. *Def. Sci. J.* 2013, 63 (6), 622-629.

- (9) Kang, G.; Ning, Y.; Chen, P. Meso-scale Failure Simulation of Polymer Bonded Explosive with Initial Defects by the Numerical Manifold Method. *Comput. Mater. Sci.* 2020, 173, 109425.
- (10) Li, H.; Wang, J.; An, C. Study on the Rheological Properties of CL-20/HTPB Casting Explosives. *Cent. Eur. J. Energ. Mater.* **2014**, *11* (2), 237-255.
- (11) Bowden, P. R.; Shorty, M.; Yeager, J. D.; Duque, A. L.; Freye, C. E. A Solubility Comparison of Cyclotetramethylenetetranitramine (HMX) and Potential Mock-HMX Candidates in Solvents Relevant to Slurry Formulating Polymer-Bonded Materials. J. Solution Chem. 2020, 49, 875-884.
- (12) Pruneda, C. O.; McGuire, R. R.; Clements, R. E. Development of a High-Tensile-Strain Plastic-Bonded TATB Explosive. Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, **1990**, UCRL—102395.
- (13) Peeters, R. L. Characterization of Plastic-Bonded Explosives. J. Reinf. Plast. Compos. 1982, 1, 131-140.
- (14) Gray III, G. T.; Idar, D. J.; Blumenthal, W. R.; Cady, C. M.; Peterson, P. D. High- and Low-Strain Rate Compression Properties of Several Energetic Material Composites as a Function of Strain Rate and Temperature. *11th Detonation Symposium (International)*, Snowmass Village, CO, **1998**.
- (15) Herman, M. J.; Woznick, C. S.; Scott, S. J.; Tisdale, J. T.; Yeager, J. D.; Duque, A. L. Composite Binder, Processing, and Particle Size Effects on Mechanical Properties of Non-Hazardous High Explosive Surrogates. *Powder Technol.* 2021, 391, 442-449.
- (16) Rae, P. J.; Palmer, S. J. P.; Goldrein, H. T.; Field, J. E.; Lewis, A. L. Quasi-static Studies of the Deformation and Failure of PBX 9501. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A.* **2002**, *458*, 2227-2242.
- (17) Wickam, J. A.; Beaudoin, S. P.; Son, S. F. The Role of Adhesion and Binder Stiffness in the Impact Sensitivity of Cast Composite Energetic Materials. J. Appl. Phys. 2020, 128, 214902.
- (18) Dagley, I. J.; Ho, S.; Nanut, V. Effects of the Polymer Matrix Density on the Shock, Bullet Impact and High Strain-rate Ignition Sensitivity of Polymer Bonded Explosives. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* **2004**, *22* (5), 296-300.
- Badgujar, D. M.; Talawar, M. B. Asthana, S. N.; Mahulikar, P. P. Advances in Science and Technology of Modern Energetic Materials: An Overview. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2008, 151 (2-3), 289-305.
- (20) Field, J. E. Deformation, Fracture and Explosive Properties of Reactive Materials. USARDSG Technical Report No. R&D 4380A-R-AN, **1989**.

- (21) Dallman, J. C.; Wackerle, J. Temperature-Dependent Shock Initiation of TATB-Based High Explosives. *Tenth Symposium (International) on Detonation*, Boston, MA, USA, July 12 16, **1993**, 130.
- (22) Richeton, J.; Ahzi, S.; Vecchio, K. S.; Jiang, F. C.; Adharapurapu, R. R. Influence of Temperature and Strain Rate on the Mechanical Behavior of Three Amorphous Polymers: Characterization and Modeling of the Compressive Yield Stress. *Int. J. Solids Struct.* 2006, 43 (7-8), 2318-2335.
- (23) Arruda, E. M.; Boyce, M. C.; Jayachandran, R. Effects of Strain Rate, Temperature and Thermomechanical Coupling on the Finite Strain Deformation of Glassy Polymers. *Mech. Mater.* **1995**, *19* (2-3), 193-212.
- (24) Siviour, C. R.; Jordan, J. L. High Strain Rate Mechanics of Polymers: A Review. J. Dyn. Behav. Mater. 2016, 2, 15-32.
- (25) Cady, C. M.; Blumenthal, W. R.; Gray III, G. T.; Idar, D. J. Mechanical Properties of Plastic-Bonded Explosive Binder Materials as a Function of Strain-rate and Temperature. *Polym. Eng. Sci.* 2006, 46 (6), 812-819.
- Idar, D. J.; Thompson, D. G.; Gray III, G. T.; Blumenthal, W. R.; Cady, C. M.; Peterson, P. D.; Roemer, E. L.; Wright, W. J.; Jacquez, B. J. Influence of Polymer Molecular Weight, Temperature, and Strain Rate on the Mechanical Properties of PBX 9501. *AIP Conf. Proc.* 2002, 620, 821-824.
- (27) Gray III, G. T.; Blumenthal, W. R.; Idar, D. J.; Cady, C. M. Influence of Temperature on the High-strain-rate Mechanical Behavior of PBX 9501. *AIP Conf. Proc.* 1998, 429, 583-586.
- (28) Govier, R. K.; Gray III, G. T.; Blumenthal, W. R. Comparison of the Influence of Temperature on the High-Strain-Rate Mechanical Responses of PBX 9501 and EDC37. *Metall. Mater. Trans. A.* **2008**, *39A*, 535-538.
- (29) Blumenthal, W. R.; Gray III, G. T.; Idar, D. J.; Holmes, M. D.; Scott, P. D.; Cady, C. M. Cannon, D. D. Influence of Temperature and Strain Rate on the Mechanical Behavior of PBX 9502 and Kel-F 800TM. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2000**, *505* (1), 671-674.
- (30) Urtiew, P. A.; Tarver, C. M.; Forbes, J. W.; et al. Shock Sensitivity of LX-04 at Elevated Temperatures. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **1998**, *429*, 727-730.
- (31) Tarver, C. M.; Forbes, J. W.; Urtiew, P. A.; et al. Shock Sensitivity of LX-04 at 150°C. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2000**, *505*, 891-894.
- (32) Tarver, C. M.; Chidester, S. K.; Vandersall, K. S. Ignition and Growth Modeling of Shock Initiation of the TATB-based Explosives LX-17 and PBX-9502 at Eight Initial Temperatures Spanning a 446K Range. *16th International Detonation Symposium*. **2018**.

- (33) Zhao, P.; Chen, L.; Yang, K.; Geng, D.; Lu, J.; Wu, J. Effect of Temperature on Shock Initiation of RDX-Based Aluminized Explosives. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* 2019, 44 (12), 1562-1569.
- (34) Siviour, C. R.; Gifford, M. J.; Walley, S. M.; Proud, W. G.; Field, J. E. Particle Size Effects on the Mechanical Properties of a Polymer Bonded Explosive. *J. Mater. Sci.* **2004**, *39*, 1255-1258.
- (35) Li, Y.; Wu, P.; Hua, C.; Wang, J.; Huang, B.; Chen, J.; Qiao, Z.; Yang, G. Determination of the Mechanical and Thermal Properties, and Impact Sensitivity of Pressed HMX-based PBX. *Cent. Eur. J. Energ. Mater.* **2019**, *16* (2), 299-315.
- (36) Wen, L.; Duan, Z.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, Z.; Ou, Z.; Huang, F. Effects of HMX Particle Size on the Shock Initiation of PBXC03 Explosive. *Int. J. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul.* 2012, *13* (2), 189-194.
- (37) Sutton, G. P. & Biblarz, O. Solid Propellants, in: *Rocket Propulsion Elements*. Wiley, New Jersey, **2017**.
- (38) Klager, K. Polyurethanes, The Most Versatile Binder for Solid Composite Propellants. 20th Joint Propulsion Conference. Cincinnati, OH, **1984**.
- (39) Lysien, K.; Stolarczyk, A.; Jarosz, T. Solid Propellant Formulations: A Review of Recent Progress and Utilized Components. *Materials*. **2021**, *14* (21), 6657.
- (40) Patil, M. S.; Singh, H. Ballistic and Mechanical Properties of HTPB Base Composite Propellants. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **1988**, *19*, 271-278.
- (41) Whitehouse, A. Structural Assessment of Solid Propellant Grains. Advisory Group for Aerospace Research & Development, Neuilly-sur-Seine, France, 1997, Report No. AGARD-AR-350.
- (42) Krishnan, P. S. G.; Ayyaswamy, K.; Nayak, S. K. Hydroxy Terminated Polybutadiene: Chemical Modifications and Applications. *J. Macromol. Sci. A.* **2013**, *50* (1), 128-138.
- (43) Stacer, R. G.; Husband, D. M. Molecular Structure of the Ideal Solid Propellant Binder. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* **1991**, *16* (4), 167-176.
- (44) Shekhar, H. Studies on Final Modulus of Solid Rocket Propellants in Uni-axial Tensile Testing Curves. *Sci. Tech. Energetic Materials*. **2010**, *71* (4), 106-110.
- (45) Jun, W. Z.; Fu, Q. H.; Guang. W.; Jun, Z. Z. Effects of Low Temperature and High Strain Rate on the Tensile Behaviors of High-Performance Energetic Composite. *MATEC Web Conf.* **2016**, *67*, 06013.
- (46) Tong, X.; Xu, J.; Chen, X.; Zheng, Y. The Mechanical Response of a Composite Propellant under Harsh Conditions. *Int. J. Mech. Mater.* **2017**, *11* (10), 1713-1717.

- (47) Shekhar, H. Effects of Temperature on Mechanical Properties of Solid Rocket Propellants. *Def. Sci. J.* **2011**, *61* (6), 529-533.
- (48) Prakash, V.; Phadke, V. K.; Sinha, R. K.; Singh, H. Influence of Aluminum on Performance of HTPB-based Aluminised PBXs. *Def. Sci. J.* **2004**, *54* (4), 475-482.
- (49) Condon, J. A.; Renie, J. P.; Osborn, J. R. Temperature Sensitivity of Propellant Burning Rates. *Combust. Flame.* **1977**, *30*, 267-276.
- (50) Kubota, N.; Miyazaki, S. Temperature Sensitivity of Burning Rate of Ammonium Perchlorate Propellants. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* **1987**, *12* (6), 183-187.
- (51) Morrow, G. R.; Petersen, E. L. The Effects of AP Particle Size and Concentration on AP/HTPB Composite Propellant Burning Rates. 55th AIAA Aerospace Sciences Meeting, Grapevine, TX, 2017.
- (52) Kimura, E.; Oyumi, Y. Sensitivity of Solid Rocket Propellants for Card Gap Test. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* **2000**, *24* (2), 90-94.
- (53) Amster, A. B.; Noonan, E. C.; Bryan, G. J. Solid Propellant Detonability. *ARS Journal*. **1960**, *30* (10), 960-964.
- (54) Tarver, C. M.; Urtiew, P. A.; Tao, W. C. Shock Initiation of a Heated Ammonium Perchlorate-Based Propellant. *Combust. Flame.* **1996**, *105* (*1-2*), 123-131.
- (55) Walley, S. M.; Field, J. E.; Palmer, J. P. Impact Sensitivity of Propellants. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond.* **1992**, *438*, 571-583.
- (56) Marsh, G. Electronic Polymers Revolution. *Mater. Today.* **2001**, *4* (1), 4-6.
- (57) Namsheer, K. and Rout, C. S. Conducting Polymers: A Comprehensive Review on Recent Advances in Synthesis, Properties and Applications. *RSC Adv.* **2021**. *11*, 5659-5697.
- (58) Epstein, A. J. Electrically Conducting Polymers: Science and Technology. *MRS Bull.* 1997. 22 (6), 16-23.
- (59) Tomlinson, E. P.; Hay, M. E.; Boudouris, B. W. Radical Polymers and Their Application to Organic Electronic Devices. *Macromolecules*. **2014**. *47* (18), 6145-6158.
- (60) Akkiraju, S.; Vergados, J.; Hoagland, L.; Lu, Z.; Anandan, V.; Boudouris, B. W. Design of Mixed Electron- and Ion-Conducting Radical Polymer Based Blends. *Macromolecules*. 2021, 54 (11), 5178-5186.
- (61) Baradwaj, A. G.; Wong, S. H.; Laster, J. S.; Wingate, A. J.; Hay, M. E.; Boudouris, B. W. Impact of the Addition of Redox-Active Salts on the Charge Transport Ability of Radical Polymer Thin Films. *Macromolecules*. **2016**, *49* (13), 4784-4791.

- (62) Oyaizu, K.; Nishide, H. Radical Polymers for Organic Electronic Devices: A Radical Departure from Conjugated Polymers? *Adv. Mater.* **2009**, *21* (22), 2339-2344.
- (63) Rostro, L.; Baradwaj, A. G.; Boudouris, B. W. Controlled Radical Polymerization and Quantification of Solid State Electrical Conductivities of Macromolecules Bearing Pendant Stable Radical Groups. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 2013, 5 (20), 9896-9901.
- (64) He, J.; Mukherjee, S.; Zhu, X.; You, L.; Boudouris, B. W.; Mei, J. Highly Transparent Crosslinkable Radical Copolymer Thin Film as the Ion Storage Layer in Organic Electrochromic Devices. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces.* **2018**, *10* (22), 18956-18963.
- (65) Joo, Y.; Agarkar, V.; Sung, S. H.; Savoie, B. M.; Boudouris, B. W. A Nonconjugated Radical Polymer Glass with High Electrical Conductivity. *Science*. 2018, 359 (6382), 1391-1395.
- (66) Chi, T.; Akkiraju, S.; Liang, Z.; Tan, Y.; Kim, H. J.; Zhao, X.; Savoie, B. M.; Boudouris, B.W. Design of an n-type Low Glass Transition Temperature Radical Polymer. *Polym. Chem.* 2021, 12 (10), 1448-1457.
- (67) Wang, S.; Park, A. M. G.; Flouda, P.; Easley, A. D.; Li, F.; Ma, T.; Fuchs, G. D.; Lutkenhaus, J. L. Solution Processable Thermally Crosslinked Organic Radical Polymer Battery Cathodes. *ChemSusChem.* 2020, *13* (9), 2371-2378.
- (68) Sato, K.; Sukegawa, T.; Oyaizu, K.; Nishide, H. Synthesis of Poly(TEMPO-Substituted Glycidyl ether) by Utilizing t-BuOK/18-Crown-6 for an Organic Cathode-Active Material. *Macromol. Symp.* 2015, 351 (1), 90-96.
- (69) Root, S. E.; Savagatrup, S.; Printz, A. D.; Rodriquez, D.; Lipomi, D. J. Mechanical Properties of Organic Semiconductors for Stretchable, Highly Flexible, and Mechanically Robust Electronics. *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, *117* (9), 6467-6499.
- (70) Saadattalab, V.; Shakeri, A.; Gholami, H. Effect of CNTs and Nano ZnO on Physical and Mechanical Properties of Polyaniline Composites Applicable in Energy Devices. *Prog. Nat. Sci.* 2016, 26 (6), 517-522.
- (71) Rodriquez, D.; Kim, J.; Root, S. E.; Fei, Z.; Boufflet, P.; Heeney, M.; Kim, T.; Lipomi, D. J. Comparison of Methods for Determining the Mechanical Properties of Semiconducting Polymer Films for Stretchable Electronics. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces.* 2017, 9 (10), 8855-8862.
- (72) Roth, B.; Savagatrup, S.; Santos, N. V.; Hagemann, O.; Carlé, J. E.; Helgesen, M.; Livi, F.; Bundgaard, E.; Søndergaard, R. R.; Krebs, F. C.; Lipomi, D. J. Mechanical Properties of a Library of Low-Band-Gap Polymers. **2016**, *28* (7), 2363-2373.
- (73) Savagatrup, S.; Makaram, A. S.; Burke, D. J.; Lipomi, D. J. Mechanical Properties of Conjugated Polymers and Polymer-Fullerene Composites as a Function of Molecular Structure. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2013, 24 (8), 1169-1181.

- (74) Savagatrup, S.; Chan, E.; Renteria-Garcia, S. M.; Printz, A. D.; Zaretski, A. V.; O'Connor, T. F.; Rodriquez, D.; Valle, E.; Lipomi, D. J. Plasticization of PEDOT:PSS by Common Additives for Mechanically Robust Organic Solar Cells and Wearable Sensors. 2014, Adv. Funct. Mater. 25 (3), 427-436.
- (75) Heffner, G. W.; Dahman, S. J.; Pearson, D. S.; Gettinger, C. L. The Effect of Molecular Weight and Crystallinity on the Conductivity of a Conducting Polymer. *Polymer*. **1993**, *34* (15), 3155-3159.
- (76) Savagatrup, S.; Printz, A. D.; O'Connor, T. F.; Zaretski, A. V.; Lipomi, D. J. Molecularly Stretchable Electronics. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26* (10), 3028-3041.
- (77) Prasad, C. D. V.; Arunachalam, V.; Ranganathan, V. Effect of the Formulation of Ingredients and the Process Parameters on the Fracture Toughness of HTPB Based Composite Solid Propellant. *J. Energy Chem. Eng.* **2014**, *2* (3), 94-105.
- (78) Chung, J. Y.; Nolte, A. J.; Stafford, C. M. Surface Wrinkling: A Versatile Platform for Measuring Thin-Film Properties. *Adv. Mater.* **2010**, *23* (3), 349-368.
- (79) Haska, S. B.; Bayramli, E.; Pekel, F.; Özkar, S. Mechanical Properties of HTPB-IPDI-based Elastomers. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* **1998**, *64* (12), 2347-2354.
- (80) Ahmad, N.; Khan, M. B.; Ma, X.; Ul-Haq, N. The Influence of Cross-Linking/Chain Extension Structures on Mechanical Properties of HTPB-Based Polyurethane Elastomers. *Arab. J. Sci. Eng.* 2014, 39, 43-51.
- (81) Koch, F. P. V.; Rivnay, J.; Foster, S.; Müller, C.; Downing, J. M.; Buchaca-Domingo, E.; Westacott, P.; Yu, L.; Yuan, M.; Baklar, M.; Fei, Z.; Luscombe, C.; McLachlan, M. A.; Heeney, M.; Rumbles, G.; Silva, C.; Salleo, A.; Nelson, J.; Smith, P.; Stingelin, N. The Impact of Molecular Weight on Microstructure and Charge Transport in Semicrystalline Polymer Semiconductors-poly(3-hexylthiophene), a Model Study. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* 2013, 38 (12), 1978-1989.
- (82) Ma, W.; Yang, C.; Gong, X.; Lee, K.; Heeger, A. J. Thermally Stable, Efficient Polymer Solar Cells with Nanoscale Control of the Interpenetrating Network Morphology. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2005**, *15* (6), 1617-1622.
- (83) O'Connor, B.; Chan, E. P.; Chan, C.; Conrad, B. R.; Richter, L. J.; Kline, R. J.; Heeney, M.; McCulloch, I.; Soles, C. L.; DeLongchamp. D. M. Correlations Between Mechanical and Electrical Properties of Polythiophenes. *ACS Nano.* 2010, *4* (12), 7538-7544.
- (84) Bhat, G. A.; Rashad, A. Z.; Ji, X.; Quiroz, M.; Fang, L.; Darensbourg, D. J. TEMPO Containing Radical Polymonothiocarbonate Polymers with Regio- and Stereo-Regularities: Synthesis, Characterization, and Electrical Conductivity Studies. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2021, 60 (38), 20734-20738.

(85) Hay, M. E.; Wong, S. H.; Mukherjee, S.; Boudouris, B. W. Controlling Open-shell Loading in Norbornene-based Radical Polymers Modulates the Solid-state Charge Transport Exponentially. J. Polym. Sci. B Polym. Phys. 2017, 55 (20), 1516-1525.

2. FIRST STEP TOWARD A RADICAL POLYMER-BASED CONDUCTIVE ENERGETIC MATERIAL

2.1 Introduction

Plastic bonded explosives (PBXs) and composite propellants (CPs) utilize polymeric species to improve the processability and mechanical properties of high explosives and solid propellants. PBXs and CPs are composed of a high proportion (i.e., 80-95%, by weight) of energetic material distributed in a polymeric matrix.¹⁻⁴ Since the conception of PBXs and CPs in the 1940s and 1950s,^{2,4} polymeric materials have advanced significantly on many fronts, including their ability to be electrically conducting.^{5,6} Polymers with electrical conductivities in excess of 10^4 S cm⁻¹ have been developed,⁷ and the majority of the effort to develop these polymers have focused on π -conjugated polymers.⁵⁻⁹ Despite the promising properties that have been developed for a range of polymer conductor systems, there has been little effort to use these polymers as the binder phase of PBXs or CPs to confer electrical conductivity to the composites.

On the other hand, researchers have evaluated carbon nanotubes (CNTs) as a means by which to confer electrical conductivity to PBXs and CPs for the application of real-time damage sensing in energetic materials.¹⁰⁻¹² While impressive performance was seen, practicality aspects, especially at the large scales required, limit the potential translation of CNT-polymer composite systems in practical applications.¹³ On the other hand, there are other applications that have yet to be examined. Specifically, leveraging the resistive heating ability of such a conductive energetic composite has yet to be reported. The ability to heat PBXs or solid propellants on demand with an electrical stimulus could provide greater control of the performance of these materials. For instance, the burn rate of a solid propellant generally increases with increasing initial propellant temperature,¹⁴⁻¹⁸ and modulating the temperature of a solid propellant electronically could provide on-demand control of the burn rate. Additionally, heating a solid propellant affects its sensitivity to detonation by shock impulse. In some cases, heating a propellant will decrease its sensitivity to shocks,¹⁹⁻²¹ and in other cases it will increase its sensitivity to shocks.²¹ Thus, it is straightforward to envision different instances where it would be useful to increase or decrease the likelihood of a propellant exploding when exposed to a shock impulse. Furthermore, using an electric signal to resistively heat a PBX could sensitize the explosive to shock or mechanical impulse. Researchers have demonstrated an increase in shock sensitivity in PBXs containing 1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7tetrazacyclooctane (HMX)^{22,23} and 2,4,6-triamino-1,3,5-trinitrobenzene (TATB) when heated.²⁴ Alternatively, Zhao et al. revealed that a 1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) based PBX containing 30% (by weight) aluminum had a decreased shock sensitivity with increasing temperature up to 110 °C and an increased shock sensitivity with increased temperature above 110 °C.²⁵ Given an understanding of the sensitivity of a PBX as temperature changes, the ability to heat such an explosive with an electrical signal could provide useful in modulating its detonation behavior.

Though conjugated polymers have demonstrated the highest electrical conductivities among conducting polymers, their chemical structure could limit their usefulness as a binder in PBXs and solid propellants. Specifically, the large degree of π -conjugation necessary for charge conduction often produces brittle polymers, and this could limit their usefulness as binders for low sensitivity PBXs.^{8,26-31} Another class of conducting polymers, radical polymers, can be designed to have more robust mechanical properties relative to their conjugated polymer counterparts. Here, radical polymers lack conjugation in their backbone and carry pendant groups that contain openshell species. These radicals can undergo rapid reduction-oxidation (redox) reactions, enabling them to conduct charge in the solid state.^{9,32-39} These polymers are not dependent on rigid macromolecular design motifs to conduct charge. Therefore, radical polymers have the potential to be both electrically conductive and sufficiently compliant to serve as a desensitizing binder.⁴⁰

The radical polymer with the highest reported electrical conductivity (~10 S m⁻¹) is poly(4glycidyloxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl) (PTEO).^{36,38} PTEO is a polymer consisting of a poly(ethylene oxide)-like (PEO-like) backbone with pendant 2,2,6,6- tetramethylpiperidine 1oxyl (TEMPO) radicals.^{36,38} This conductivity was achieved up to distances of 600 nm, after which the conductivity decreased precipitously.³⁶ Therefore, to confer electrical conductivity to a PBX using PTEO as a binder, a strategy to address macroscale conductivity is needed. Another important consideration in composite energetic materials is crosslink density in the binder. PBXs^{41,42} and CPs⁴³ both contain crosslinks of some kind which have a rigidizing effect on the composite. PTEO does not contain substituents that could initiate crosslinking reactions. Thus, the addition of a crosslinker to PTEO would give greater control of the final mechanical properties of a PTEO-based composite.

Here, a nanocomposite design strategy has been implemented to confer electrical conductivity to a mock-PBX material. The composite material was composed of 90% solid particles to simulate the mechanical properties of common explosive crystals. PTEO and an

ultraviolet-crosslinkable (UV-crosslinkable) copolymer based on PTEO were used as the polymeric binders. Lastly, low loadings of silver nanowires (AgNWs) were added to connect electrically conducting domains of PTEO. The viscoelastic response of the polymer and composites were measured by dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA) which revealed that the PTEO-based composites performed similarly to a common PBX, namely PBX 9502. The crosslinker added to PTEO and the AgNWs had a similar effect on the viscoelastic response of the composites. Specifically, they increased the stiffness and decreased damping in the material. The electrical conductivity values of the composites were also quantified as a function of AgNW content, which showed that meaningful conductivities (~1 S cm⁻¹) could be achieved at AgNW loadings < 3% (by weight). Thus, the materials system presented here provides a method for imparting electrical conductivity to PBXs that could be used in designing composites capable of direct resistive heating.

2.2 Experimental

2.2.1 Materials

All of the chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, and they were used as received unless stated otherwise. Silver nanowires (AgNWs) were purchased from ACS Materials as a suspension in isopropanol (IPA) with an average diameter of 30 nm and a typical length of 100-200 μ m. Sugar crystals used were sieved to obtain an average particle diameter of ~150 μ m.

2.2.2 General Methods

Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) thermograms of PTEO and PTEO-*co*glycidyloxybenzophenone (PTEO-GBP) were obtained using a TA Instruments Q20 differential scanning calorimeter under a nitrogen atmosphere with a flow rate of 50 mL min⁻¹. All of the experiments consisted of an initial heating to 150 °C, an isothermal hold for 10 minutes, cooling to -50 °C, and another heating to 150 °C and cooling to -50 °C. The heating and cooling rates were both 10 °C min⁻¹, and the data presented are of the second heating scans. Proton (¹H) nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectra were obtained using a Bruker Avance III 400 MHz HD spectrometer. All of the samples were dissolved in deuterated dimethyl sulfoxide. PTEO homopolymer spectra were obtained by quenching nitroxide radicals with phenyl hydrazine. PTEO-GBP copolymer spectra were obtained by quenching the nitroxide radicals through an overnight reaction of hydrochloric acid and the polymer in a chloroform/methanol solution. The fraction of GBP repeat units in the PTEO-GBP copolymers were determined by integrating the methyl peaks from the nitroxide groups and the aromatic peaks from the benzophenone groups. Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectra were obtained using a Thermo Scientific Nicolet Nexus FT-IR spectrometer. Electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectra were obtained using a Bruker EMX EPR spectrometer. Solutions for EPR measurements contained 1 mg mL⁻¹ PTEO or PTEO-GBP in chloroform. Molecular weights of the polymers were determined by size exclusion chromatography (SEC) using a Hewlett-Packard 1260 Infinity series with a Hewlett-Packard G1362A refractive index detector and three PLgel 5 μ m MIXED-C columns. Polystyrene (PS) standards (Agilent Easi Cal) from 1-200 kg mol⁻¹ were used to calibrate the instrument. Tetrahydrofuran was used as the mobile phase with a temperature of 35 °C and a flow rate of 1 mL min⁻¹.

2.2.3 Synthesis

The radical containing monomer, 4-glycidyloxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl (TEO), was synthesized according to a procedure modified from the literature.³⁶ In an example reaction, epichlorohydrin (10 mL, 0.120 mol) and tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (1.5 g, 0.0046 mol) were added to an aqueous sodium hydroxide solution (50% NaOH by weight, 16 g total). A solution of 4.0 g (0.023 mol) of 4-hydroxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidin-N-oxy (TEMPO-OH) dissolved in ~30 mL of THF was then added dropwise to the aqueous solution. The mixture was stirred for 16 h. After 16 h, ~200 mL of water was poured into the reaction mixture. It was extracted with ethyl acetate, washed with water and brine, and dried with anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The ethyl acetate was removed by rotary evaporation and the product was then purified in a silica gel chromatography column with an 8:1 (v/v) hexanes:ethyl acetate eluent. The eluent was removed from the monomer in a vacuum oven over 24 h, and the monomer was recovered as needle-shaped red crystals.

The crosslinkable co-monomer, glycidyloxy-benzophenone (GBP), was synthesized according to a procedure modified from the literature.⁴⁴ Sodium hydroxide (1 g, 0.025 mol) was dissolved in epichlorohydrin (25 mL, 0.30 mol) and 4-hydroxybenzophenone (3 g, 0.015 mol) was added to the solution. The mixture was refluxed at 120 °C for 5 h and then stirred overnight at

room temperature. The product was extracted with ethyl acetate, washed with water and brine, and dried with magnesium sulfate. The MgSO₄ was removed by gravity filtration and the ethyl acetate was removed by rotary evaporation to yield an oily, clear liquid. The liquid was placed in a vacuum oven overnight to yield a white solid.

PTEO and the copolymer, PTEO-*co*-GBP (PTEO-GBP), were synthesized according to procedures modified from the literature.^{36,45} An example reaction for the synthesis of PTEO-GBP is as follows. In an inert atmosphere, 910 mg of TEO, 90 mg of GBP, 226 mg of 1,4,7,10,13,16-hexaoxacyclooctadecane (18-crown-6), and a solution of 32 mg of potassium *tert*-butoxide in 0.6 mL of inhibitor free tetrahydrofuran was added to a glass vial. The mixture was stirred for 24 h at 40 °C in the inert atmosphere. The reaction mixture was then exposed to air, dissolved in dichloromethane, washed with water and brine, and dried with magnesium sulfate. The magnesium sulfate was filtered using gravity filtration, and the dichloromethane was removed by rotary evaporation. The red, viscous liquid remaining was dissolved in minimal amount of tetrahydrofuran and added dropwise to an excess of hexanes. The red, viscous polymer precipitated to the bottom of the container. The hexanes were decanted, and the polymer was collected. The amount of GBP added to the reaction mixture was varied to achieve different GBP loadings in the polymer.

2.2.4 Mock PBX Formulation

Mock PBX molding powder was produced by a solvent-antisolvent method. Sugar was suspended in hexanes by vigorous stirring. For the formulation of composites composed of only polymer and sugar, a solution of PTEO or PTEO-GBP with a concentration of 100 mg mL⁻¹ in chloroform was added to the sugar suspension. The polymer precipitated from solution to coat the sugar particles. The suspension was stirred for ~5 additional min. The hexanes were then decanted, and the sugar-polymer composite powder was collected. For the formulation of composites composed of PTEO or PTEO-GBP, sugar, and AgNWs, the same procedure was followed with a minor adjustment. A specified volume (AgNW desired loading) of AgNW suspension in IPA was added to the sugar suspension. The PTEO-sugar-AgNW molding powder was collected after decanting the hexanes.

The molding powder was pressed into samples for dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA) and conductivity testing. First, a 30 mm \times 7 mm \times 0.7 mm rectangular Teflon mold was filled with molding powder. Then, a piece of Teflon film (McMaster-Carr) was placed over the powder and pressed in a hydraulic press at 100 °C with 1,000 lbs of force. This position was held for 15 min. After 15 min the force was reestablished to 1000 lbs. if it had lessened, and held for 15 more min, for a total of 30 min in the press. These samples were then heated for an additional 3 h at 100 °C in a vacuum oven. If the sample was also cured with ultraviolet (UV) light, it was placed under a 36 W UV lamp for 6 h. Halfway through the UV cure, samples were turned to expose the opposite side to the lamp. For DMA testing, the entire 30 mm \times 7 mm \times 0.7 mm sample was used. For conductivity testing, the samples were gently heated and cut into small rectangles ~5-10 mm long.

2.2.5 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis

Dynamic mechanic analysis (DMA) experiments were performed using a TA Instruments Q800 instrument, with a 17.5 mm single cantilever clamp. Temperature sweep experiments were conducted at a frequency of 1 Hz, an amplitude of 10 μ m, and a heating rate of 1 °C min⁻¹. Frequency sweep experiments were conducted at 25 °C, a soak time of 10 min, and an amplitude of 10 μ m. All of the samples were secured in the clamps using 1 in-lb of torque, as measured by a torque screwdriver. Exact dimensions of rectangular DMA samples were measured with calipers for the calculation of storage moduli and loss moduli. Neat polymer samples were prepared in the same manner as the PTEO-sugar composites. The rectangular Teflon molds discussed previously were filled with polymer, pressed at 100 °C, and heated for another 3 h at 100 °C under vacuum. If the sample received UV treatment, it was processed in the same manner as described above.

2.2.6 Electrical Conductivity Testing

The electrical conductivity of the materials was measured using a Keithley 2400 source meter. Electrical leads outfitted with flat alligator clips were attached to rectangular specimens and the resistance was measured with the source meter. The resistance along with the dimensions of the rectangular piece of material was used to calculate volume conductivities of the composites.

2.3 Results and Discussion

The polymer binders used in this study were homopolymer PTEO and the random copolymer poly(4-glycidyloxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl-*co*-glycidyloxybenzophenone) (PTEO-GBP) (Figure 2.S1). The molecular structures and molecular weights of the PTEO and PTEO-GBP used in this work were characterized using ¹H NMR spectroscopy, FTIR spectroscopy, EPR spectroscopy, and SEC (Figure 2.S2-2.S7), and the data reported here is consistent with previous reports of these polymeric species.^{38,46,47} As mentioned previously, PTEO was chosen for its best-in-class conductivity. On the other hand, PTEO-GBP was designed to retain the conductivity of PTEO while providing a handle by which to tune the mechanical properties of the macromolecule, as the GBP unit can be crosslinked through simple exposure to ultraviolet light.^{34,48-50} When benzophenone undergoes a UV-initiated reaction, it forms a benzopinacol or alkylbenzhydrol species in PTEO-GBP (Figure 2.1a).⁵⁰ This is evidenced by the increased intensity of the alcohol stretch in the FTIR spectrum of PTEO-GBP after UV exposure (Figure 2.1b).



Figure 2.1. (a) PTEO-GBP before (left) and after (right) UV crosslinking. PTEO-GBP can either form an alkylbenzhydrol (top) or benzopinacol species (bottom). Wavy lines represent the rest of the polymer not shown in the crosslinked structures. (b) FTIR spectra of PTEO-GBP before and after UV exposure. An increase in the intensity of the alcohol stretch at ~ 3500 cm⁻¹ indicates that UV crosslinking forms alcohol groups.

DSC scans of PTEO and PTEO-GBP reveal that, before thermal annealing, PTEO-GBP has a reduced glass transition temperature (T_g) relative to PTEO (Figure 2.2a). After thermal annealing, PTEO-GBP(8.5) has a similar T_g to PTEO and PTEO-GBP(16.3) has an increased T_g relative to PTEO (Figure 2.2b). The T_g of PTEO was ~20 °C, and this agrees with previous studies.^{36,38} After thermal treatment, PTEO does not exhibit an appreciable change in its T_g , as expected. These results suggest that the GBP moiety within the PTEO-GBP copolymer acts as a means by which to lower the glass transition temperature of the copolymer. After thermal annealing, this effect of benzophenone substituents is no longer present, which is consistent with intuition. If enough GBP is present in the polymer, the T_g of the copolymer is increased to a higher temperature than what is observed for PTEO.



Figure 2.2. DSC thermograms of PTEO and PTEO-GBP (a) before and (b) after thermal treatment. Before thermal treatment, PTEO-GBP has a reduced T_g compared to PTEO. After thermal treatment, its T_g increases to a similar or higher temperature compared to PTEO. PTEO-GBP(X) signifies a polymer with X% GBP, on a molar basis. Endotherms are displayed in the upward direction.

DMA experiments on neat polymer samples without UV crosslinking revealed that PTEO-GBP copolymers behave more elastically than PTEO (Figure 2.3). In this case, all of the samples were subjected to the hot press and a 3-h thermal curing process. After thermally treating the polymers, we observed an increase in the storage modulus (E') in the glassy region for the PTEO-GBP copolymers (Figure 2.3a). E' is a measure of the amount of energy stored elastically in a material, so an increase in this parameter demonstrates PTEO-GBP is more rigid than PTEO.⁵¹ The loss modulus (E'') is also higher across all of the temperatures in the copolymer (Figure 2.3b) aside for the case of PTEO-GBP(12.6). E'' is a measure of energy loss due to internal motions of polymer chains.⁵² The higher E'' in PTEO-GBP suggests PTEO-GBP chains require more energy

to induce chain slippage than PTEO. Further demonstrating that PTEO-GBP behaves more elastically than PTEO, the tan δ values across most temperatures are reduced for PTEO-GBP (Figure 2.3c). Because tan δ is a ratio of the viscous response (E'') to the elastic response (E'),⁵¹ the higher damping values for PTEO show that it exhibits more viscous behavior than PTEO-GBP.



Figure 2.3. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ versus temperature for thermally treated neat polymer samples. PTEO-GBP(X) indicates a copolymer with X% GBP, on a molar basis.

Like the DSC experiments, the DMA results show that the T_g of PTEO-GBP after thermal treatment is higher than the T_g of PTEO when the copolymer has a large content (~15%) of GPB. This is demonstrated by the first tan δ peak in PTEO-GBP(16.3) occurring at 40 °C compared to 35 °C for PTEO. The second peak in the PTEO and PTEO-GBP(3.8) samples are likely an artifact of the samples exiting the sensitivity range of the DMA Q800. As McAninch et al. point out, the

TA Instruments Q800 accurately measures samples with stiffnesses between 10² and 10⁷ N/m.⁵³ The PTEO and PTEO-GBP(3.8) samples fall below 100 N m⁻¹ at 39 °C and 47 °C, respectively. Therefore, the second tan δ peaks for PTEO and PTEO-GBP(3.8) were generated outside of the sensitivity limits of the instrument and should not be considered valid. On the other hand, PTEO-GBP(16.3)'s stiffness does not fall below 100 N m⁻¹ until 62 °C. Therefore, the second tan δ peak in PTEO-GBP(16.3) was observed within the sensitivity limits of the instrument (Figure 2.3c). At higher proportions of GBP in the copolymer (>15%), PTEO-GBP appears to exhibit multiple glass transitions. Two glass transitions were observed from the tan δ curve and not the DSC thermograms (Figure 2.2) of PTEO-GBP(16.3) due to the much greater sensitivity of DMA in observing polymer transitions.⁵⁴ Furthermore, the DSC thermogram of PTEO-GBP(19.3) appears to reveal two glass transitions (Figure 2.S8). Random copolymers exhibiting multiple glass transitions has been observed previously. Estane 5703, a poly(ester urethane) random copolymer used as the binder in PBX 9501,⁵⁵ displays two tan δ peaks.⁴² Estane exhibits phase separation between hard and soft components, 41,42 and the two tan δ peaks are associated with separate glass transitions of hard and soft segments of the polymer.⁴² The much higher T_g of PTEO-GBP(12.6) is not caused by the GBP portion of the copolymer. Instead, PTEO-GBP(12.6) had an anomalous molecular weight distribution. A significant portion of the polymer had a larger molecular weight than other polymers (Figure 2.S7), which likely accounts for the much higher T_g .



Figure 2.4. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ vs temperature for UV-treated neat polymer samples. PTEO-GBP(X) indicates a copolymer with X% GBP, on a molar basis.

Each of the PTEO-GBP copolymers showed evidence of crosslinking after being exposed to UV light (Figure 2.4). The glassy and rubbery E' increased for each polymer after being cured with UV light (Figure 2.4a). An increase in the rubbery E' is especially indicative of crosslinking, as covalent crosslinks remain intact through the T_g . In contrast to the samples that did not receive UV treatment, the stiffness of the UV treated samples remained above the lower sensitivity limit (100 N m⁻¹) well into the rubbery region. Additionally, damping decreased across all of the temperatures for each of the samples, indicating an increase in elasticity (Figure 2.4c). Furthermore, the plot of E" versus temperature gives insight into the relative percentage of crosslinking units consumed in each sample (Figure 2.4b). After UV exposure, PTEO-GBP(3.8) exhibits a reduced glassy E" and a smaller E" peak. This is attributed to a high percentage of available GBP units undergoing crosslinking reactions. At higher GBP loadings, the loss moduli of PTEO-GBP(12.6) and PTEO-GBP(16.3) remained virtually unchanged. These results suggest that all of the polymers underwent UV light initiated crosslinking, but PTEO-GBP(3.8) had the highest crosslinking efficiency. Figure 2.S9 displays further evidence suggesting that higher GBP loadings result in lower crosslinking efficiencies (i.e., percent conversion from GBP to crosslinks). In Figure 2.S9a, E' is plotted as a function of frequency. Here, it is evident that the storage modulus of PTEO-GBP(3.8) shows less frequency dependance than the storage modulus of PTEO-GBP(16.3). In general, elastic materials show less frequency dependent moduli than viscoelastic materials.⁵⁶ Therefore, PTEO-GBP(3.8) is more elastic than PTEO-GBP(16.3). The greater degree of elasticity in PTEO-GBP(3.8) is attributed to a higher percentage of its GBP units being consumed in crosslinking reactions. Higher crosslinking efficiency at lower crosslinker loading is attributed to higher reaction rates occurring at the surface of the samples, resulting in unreacted benzophenone groups to begin with, so they retained more unreacted benzophenone on their interior than the sample with 3.8% GBP.

When PTEO-GBP with low GBP content is used as a binder, it produces composites with higher stiffness compared to PTEO-bound composites. The mechanical properties of the composites composed of sugar crystals and PTEO or PTEO-GBP were quantified using DMA. All of the sugar-polymer composites were composed of 90% sugar and 10% polymer by weight. Figure 2.5 displays the results of DMA experiments on sugar-polymer composites that did not receive a UV treatment. As can be seen in the E', E", and tan δ plots, the glass transition temperatures of the composites are larger than that of the pristine polymers by about 10 °C, as has been observed previously in other systems.^{57,58} The plot of E' vs. temperature reveals that increasing GBP content in PTEO as the binder increases stiffness up to 6 mol% GBP, in both the glassy and rubbery states (Figure 2.5a). The tan δ curves of PTEO-GBP bound composites are also reduced compared to PTEO, indicating a smaller viscous response in the PTEO-GBP composites (Figure 2.5c). However, beyond 6% GBP, the stiffness decreases. This is evident by the drastically reduced E' of the composite using PTEO-GBP(12.6) as the binder (Figure 2.5a). Additionally, as seen in Figure 2.S10, when PTEO-GBP(8.5) is used as a binder, it has a reduced E' (Figure 2.S10a) and increased tan δ (Figure 2.S10c) compared to the PTEO-GBP(6) bound composite.



Figure 2.5. DMA results of 90% sugar-10% polymer composites (by weight) without UV treatment. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ are plotted versus temperature. The legend indicates the percentage of GBP in the polymer, on a molar basis, used as the binder.

At low GBP percentages (i.e., $\leq 6\%$), the high solids content does not prevent thermal annealing from reversing the plasticizing effect of GBP. Alternatively, at higher GBP loadings and high sugar content, polymer chains are restricted from reorganizing due to the rigid crystals held in the polymer matrix. At higher GBP content, it is reasonable to envision that more extreme chain rearrangement is required to negate the plasticizing effect of GBP. When the sugar particles constrain chain rearrangement, the bulky GBP units remain in a configuration that space out polymer chains in highly loaded GBP polymers, resulting in a decreased E'. Additionally, the smaller E" peaks in PTEO-GBP(12.6) and PTEO-GBP(8.5) composites suggest that they do not reorganize into a more rigid arrangement that releases a large amount of heat during chain slippage (Figure 2.5b and 2.S10b). When used as a binder with high solids loading, PTEO with greater than 6% GBP appears to produce composites with reduced stiffnesses.

The viscoelastic behavior of PTEO and PTEO-GBP based composites resemble the viscoelastic behavior of PBX 9502. PBX 9502 consists of 95% 2,4,6-triamino-1,3,5trinitrobenzene (TATB) and 5% Kel F-800 polymer as the binder, on a mass basis.⁵⁹ TATB is one of the most insensitive high explosives used today, and Kel F-800 is a fluoropolymer with a Tg of ~28 °C.^{59,60} TATB can be made into a PBX with a glassy, high T_g polymer due to the supreme insensitivity of the explosive. Under similar experimental conditions, the storage modulus of PBX 9502 decreases from ~9 GPa at 20 °C to ~3.5 GPa at 80 °C. The damping factor increases from ~0.05 at 20 °C to ~0.16 at 80 °C.61 Therefore, the storage moduli of the composites bound by PTEO and PTEO-GBP are of the same order of magnitude of PBX 9502 and the damping factor across the measured temperatures are similar. In contrast to PBX 9502, PBX 9501 is composed primarily of 1,3,5,7-tetranitroazacyclooctane (HMX) bound with a softer, plasticized polymer, Estane (T_g ~ -45 °C).^{41,42} HMX is much more sensitive to shock than TATB,^{62,63} which requires the use of soft, rubbery binders that can dampen insults and decrease its shock sensitivity. PBX 9501 exhibits a storage modulus similar to PTEO and PTEO-GBP composites.⁴² However, the damping factor of PBX 9501 is noticeably higher than PTEO and PTEO-GBP based composites,⁴² especially below PTEO's T_g, demonstrating Estane's superior energy absorbing capability. Thus, PTEO and PTEO-GBP would be suitable to bind an insensitive high explosive like TATB but appear too stiff to bind a more sensitive explosive that requires a softer binder with a lower Tg and better damping ability.



Figure 2.6. DMA results of 90% sugar-10% polymer composites before and after UV treatment. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ are plotted versus temperature. Legend indicates the percentage of GBP, on a molar basis, in the polymer used as binder. Samples denoted as "-UV" received the UV treatment.

When PTEO-GBP bound composites were exposed to UV light, evidence of crosslinking was observed in a copolymer with relatively high GBP content in a similar manner to the pristine polymer samples. The E', E", and tan δ curves of PTEO-GBP(6) were virtually unchanged after the UV light treatment (Figure 2.6). In contrast, the PTEO-GBP(12.6) composite showed an increased E', a decreased tan δ peak, and an increased T_g after UV exposure (Figure 2.6). These data suggest that at high solids loading, a GBP loading of greater than 6% (on a molar basis) is required to elicit measurable UV crosslinking. In the neat polymer samples, GBP loadings as low as 3.8% initiated measurable crosslinking. Therefore, the high sugar content appeared to shield the PTEO-GBP(6) composite from receiving enough UV energy to allow for curing. Alternatively, at

12.6% GBP, there were enough benzophenone groups on the surface of the composite to generate a detectable change in mechanical properties. In the neat polymer, we observed a greater apparent conversion of GBP groups to crosslinks at lower GBP loadings. Nevertheless, there was evidence of crosslinking at high GBP loadings. In the case of sugar/polymer composites, measurable crosslinking only occurred at GBP loadings of >6 mol%. The PTEO-GBP(12.6) composite's tan δ after UV crosslinking was significantly lower than the tan δ of the PTEO-GBP(6) composite. However, in the rubbery region, the storage modulus of PTEO-GBP(12.6) (0.63 GPa) was only slightly higher than PTEO-GBP(6) (0.58 GPa), suggesting that only a small number of crosslinks were formed.

The addition of silver nanowires (AgNWs) imparted macroscopic electrical conductivity and mechanical reinforcement to the composites. Specifically, composites of PTEO, sugar, and (AgNWs) were fabricated. All of the the AgNW-containing composites contained 10% PTEO, 1-5% AgNWs, and 85-89% sugar, on a mass basis. When the AgNW content increased from 2 to 2.5 weight percent, the conductivity of the composites increased from 6.1×10^{-4} S cm⁻¹ to 0.62 S cm⁻¹ (Figure 2.7d). This large increase in conductivity signifies the formation of a network of AgNWs between the conductive PTEO domains.⁶⁴ The addition of AgNWs also affects the viscoelastic properties of the composite. While the storage modulus was only slightly increased, primarily in the rubbery region, after adding 0.5 and 2 wt% AgNWs to the composites (Figure 2.7a), there was a drastic increase in E' when AgNW content was increased from 2 to 3%.



Figure 2.7. DMA and electrical conductivity results of sugar/PTEO/AgNW composites. All of the composites contained 90% solids content. For example, AgNW(3) is composed of 3% AgNWs, 87% sugar, 10% PTEO, on a mass basis. All of the PTEO used was PTEO homopolymer. Sample denoted as PTEO in the legend did not contain AgNWs. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ of composites versus temperature. (d) Conductivity of the composites as a function of nanowire loading.

The loss modulus decreased after adding 0.5 and 2% AgNWs (Figure 2.7b). Adding AgNWs decreased the damping of the composites, with 3% AgNWs having the smallest tan δ across all temperatures (Figure 2.7c). The drastic stiffening of the composite observed between 2% and 3% AgNWs (on a mass basis) corresponds to the pathway formation around 2% as seen in the conductivity results. This is indicated by the precipitous rise in storage modulus and decrease in tan δ from 2% to 3% AgNWs.

PTEO-GBP bound composites containing AgNWs had similar conductivity as PTEOsugar-AgNW composites, but they had reduced elasticity. When the binders contained 1.8 and 5.0% GBP, the composites had conductivities of the same order of magnitude as PTEO based composites (Figure 2.S11). However, the composites containing AgNWs bound by PTEO-GBP copolymers showed significantly reduced stiffnesses (Figure 2.S12). The storage modulus was reduced well below the PTEO-sugar-AgNW composites when PTEO-GBP was used as the binder (Figure 2.S12a). Their tan δ peaks also increased significantly as compared to the PTEO-sugar-AgNW composites (Figure 2.S12c). Therefore, PTEO-GBP based composites containing AgNWs displayed reduced elasticity. An investigation into the interaction between PTEO-GBP and AgNWs could provide a pathway to overcoming this decreased stiffness.

2.4 Conclusions

A conducting radical polymer, PTEO, was used as the binder in a mock PBX. The radical polymer was copolymerized with a UV-active crosslinker (GBP) as a strategy to cure the polymer. Additionally, AgNWs were added to the mock PBX to confer macroscopic electrical conductivity to the composite. DMA analysis revealed that chain reorganization induced by thermal curing stiffened both the polymer and polymer/sugar composites when GBP was present. Evidence of UV-crosslinking of neat PTEO-GBP was observed at GBP loadings as low as 3.8%. In sugar-polymer composites, crosslinking was only observed when the binder contained higher loadings (i.e., ~10% GBP). Therefore, we propose molecular design strategies to adjust the mechanical properties of PBXs using a radical polymer-based binder with thermal and UV curing methods. We also suggest a combined radical polymer-nanocomposite strategy to confer electrical conductivity to composites that could provide utility in the development of highly electrically conductive energetic composites.

2.5 Supplementary Information



Figure 2.S1. Chemical structures of polymers used as binders. Left: PTEO. Right: PTEO-GBP.



Figure 2.S2. NMR Characterization of GBP. (a) Full spectrum. (b) Aromatic region of the spectrum.



Figure 2.S3. NMR Characterization of PTEO.



Figure 2.S4. NMR Characterization of PTEO-GBP.



Figure 2.S5. FTIR characterization of TEO, GBP, and PTEO-GBP.



Figure 2.S6. EPR Characterization of PTEO and PTEO-GBP.



Figure 2.S7. SEC traces of PTEO and PTEO-GBP polymers. The synthetic procedure produced consistent molecular weights. PTEO-GBP(12.6) had an anomalous molecular weight distribution, resulting in a significantly higher glass transition temperature as determined by DMA. Number average molecular weight (M_n) of PTEO = 4720 g/mol, Polydispersity (PDI) of PTEO = 2.25. PTEO-GBP(2.6) $M_n = 5150$ g/mol, PDI = 1.88. PTEO-GBP(8.5) $M_n = 5073$, PDI = 1.77. PTEO-GBP(12.6) first peak $M_n = 152354$ g/mol, PDI = 2.72. PTEO-GBP(12.6) second peak $M_n = 2316$ g/mol, PDI = 3.30.



Figure 2.S8. DSC thermograph of PTEO-GBP(19.4) exhibiting two apparent glass transitions at ~0 °C and ~40 °C.



Figure 2.S9. Frequency sweep DMA experiments of neat PTEO-GBP(3.8) and PTEO-GBP(16.3) samples after UV crosslinking. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ is plotted from 10^{-2} to 10^{2} Hz.



Figure 2.S10. DMA of a composite composed of 90 wt% sugar and 10 wt% PTEO-GBP(8.5) as the binder. (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ plotted versus temperature.



Figure 2.S11. Conductivity of composites composed of 87 wt% sugar, 10 wt% binder, and 3 wt% AgNWs. Conductivities of the composites are displayed when PTEO, PTEO-GBP(1.8), and PTEO-GBP(5.1) was used as the binder.



Figure 2.S12. DMA of composites composed of 87 wt% sugar, 10 wt% PTEO-GBP binders, and 3 wt% AgNWs. The binders used were PTEO-GBP(1.8) and PTEO-GBP(5.1). (a) Storage modulus, (b) loss modulus, and (c) tan δ are plotted versus temperature.



Figure 2.S13. Pictures of DMA samples. *Left Image*: Neat PTEO-GBP sample (left) and neat PTEO homopolymer sample (right). *Middle Image*: 90% Sugar/10% PTEO sample (left) and neat PTEO-GBP sample (right). *Right Image*: 87% sugar/10% PTEO/3% AgNW sample. All of the samples are ~30mm x 7mm x 1mm besides the PTEO homopolymer sample.



Figure 2.S14. Optical microscopy images of 87% sugar/10% PTEO/3% AgNW sample. (a) Sugar crystals visible in PTEO matrix. (b),(c) AgNWs visible on the surface of sugar crystals.

2.6 References

- (1) Cooper, P. W.; Kurowski, S. R., Chemistry of Explosives, in: *Introduction to the Technology of Explosives*. Wiley, New York, **1996**.
- (2) James, E. The Development of Plastic Bonded Explosives. Lawrence Radiation Laboratory, Livermore, CA, **1965**, Report No. UCRL-12439-T.
- (3) Sutton, G. P. & Biblarz, O. Solid Propellants, in: *Rocket Propulsion Elements*. Wiley, New Jersey, **2017**.
- (4) Daniel, M. A. Polyurethane Binder Systems for Polymer Bonded Explosives. Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Edinburgh, Australia, 2006, Report No. DSTO-GD-0492.
- (5) Marsh, G. Electronic Polymers Revolution. *Mater. Today.* **2001**, *4* (1), 4-6.
- (6) Namsheer, K. and Rout, C. S. Conducting Polymers: A Comprehensive Review on Recent Advances in Synthesis, Properties and Applications. *RSC Adv.* **2021**. *11*, 5659-5697.
- (7) Epstein, A. J. Electrically Conducting Polymers: Science and Technology. *MRS Bull.* 1997.
 22 (6), 16-23.
- (8) Savagatrup, S.; Printz, A. D.; O'Connor, T. F.; Zaretski, A. V.; Lipomi, D. J. Molecularly Stretchable Electronics. *Chem. Mater.* **2014**, *26* (10), 3028-3041.
- (9) Tomlinson, E. P.; Hay, M. E.; Boudouris, B. W. Radical Polymers and Their Application to Organic Electronic Devices. *Macromolecules*. **2014**. *47* (18), 6145-6158.
- (10) Sengezer, E.C.; Povolny, S.; Seidel, G.D. Real Time In-Situ Sensing of Damage Evolution in Carbon Nanotube-Polymer Nanocomposite Bonded Surrogate Energetics. *Proc.* 57th AIAA/ASCE/AHS/ASC Structures, Structural Dynamics, and Materials Conf. 2016.
- (11) Shirodkar, N.; Rocker, S.; Seidel, G. D. Structural Health Monitoring of Solid Rocket Propellants Using Piezoresistive Properties of Dispersed Carbon Nano-Tube Sensing Networks. *Proc. of the ASME 2018 Conf. on Smart Materials, Adaptive Structures and Intelligent Systems.* 2018.
- (12) Sengezer, E. C.; Seidel, G. D. Structural Health Monitoring of Nanocomposite Bonded Energetic Materials Through Piezoresistive Response. *AIAA J.* **2018**. *56* (3), 1225-1238.
- (13) Karthikeyan, S.; Mahalingam, P.; Karthik, M. Large Scale Synthesis of Carbon Nanotubes. *E-J. Chem.* **2009**, *6*(1), 1-12.
- (14) Kishore, K.; Sridhara, K. Effect of Temperature on the Burning Rate of Solid Propellants: A Review. J. Propuls. Power. **1986**, 2 (3), 193-194.

- (15) Atwood, A. I.; Boggs, T. L.; Curran, P. O.; Parr, T. P.; Hanson-Parr, D. M. Burning Rate of Solid Propellant Ingredients, Part 1: Pressure and Initial Temperature Effects. *J. Propuls. Power.* **1999**, *15* (6), 740-747.
- (16) Condon, J. A.; Renie, J. P.; Osborn, J. R. Temperature Sensitivity of Propellant Burning Rates. *Combust. Flame.* **1977**, *30*, 267-276.
- (17) Maraden, A.; Sojan, P.; Matyas, R.; Zigmund, J. Impact of Initial Grain Temperature on the Activation Energy and the Burning Rate of Cast Double-Base Propellant. *J. Therm. Anal. Calorim.* **2019**, *137*, 185-191.
- (18) Washburn, E. B.; Beckstead, M. W. Modeling Multiphase Effects in the Combustion of HMX and RDX. *J. Propuls. Power.* **2006**, *22* (5), 938-946.
- (19) Tarver, C. M.; Urtiew, P. A.; Tao, W. C. Shock Initiation of a Heated Ammonium Perchlorate-Based Propellant. *Combust. Flame.* **1996**, *105* (*1-2*), 123-131.
- (20) Walley, S. M.; Field, J. E.; Palmer, J. P. Impact Sensitivity of Propellants. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond.* **1992**, *438*, 571-583.
- (21) Amster, A. B.; Noonan, E. C.; Bryan, G. J. Solid Propellant Detonability. *ARS Journal*. **1960**, *30* (10), 960-964.
- (22) Urtiew, P. A.; Tarver, C. M.; Forbes, J. W.; et al. Shock Sensitivity of LX-04 at Elevated Temperatures. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **1998**, *429*, 727-730.
- (23) Tarver, C. M.; Forbes, J. W.; Urtiew, P. A.; et al. Shock Sensitivity of LX-04 at 150°C. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2000**, *505*, 891-894.
- (24) Tarver, C. M.; Chidester, S. K.; Vandersall, K. S. Ignition and Growth Modeling of Shock Initiation of the TATB-based Explosives LX-17 and PBX-9502 at Eight Initial Temperatures Spanning a 446K Range. *16th International Detonation Sympsoium*. **2018**.
- (25) Zhao, P.; Chen, L.; Yang, K.; Geng, D.; Lu, J.; Wu, J. Effect of Temperature on Shock Initiation of RDX-Based Aluminized Explosives. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* 2019, 44 (12), 1562-1569.
- (26) Ding, Z.; Liu, D.; Zhao, K.; Han, Y. Optimizing Morphology to Trade Off Charge Transport and Mechanical Properties of Stretchable Conjugated Polymer Films. *Macromolecules*. 2021, *54* (9), 3907-3926.
- (27) Ma, W.; Yang, C.; Gong, X.; Lee, K.; Heeger, A. J. Thermally Stable, Efficient Polymer Solar Cells with Nanoscale Control of the Interpenetrating Network Morphology. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2005**, *15* (6), 1617-1622.
- (28) Heffner, G. W.; Dahman, S. J.; Pearson, D. S.; Gettinger, C. L. The Effect of Molecular Weight and Crystallinity on the Conductivity of a Conducting Polymer. *Polymer*. **1993**, *34* (15), 3155-3159.

- (29) Li, P.; Sun, K.; Ouyang, J. Stretchable and Conductive Polymer Films Prepared by Solution Blending. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces*, **2015**, 7 (33), 18415-18423.
- (30) Kim, N.; Lienemann, S.; Petsagkourakis, I.; Mengistie, D. A.; Kee, S.; Ederth, T.; Gueskine, V.; Leclére, P.; Lazzaroni, R.; Crispin, X.; Tybrandt, K. Elastic conducting polymer composites in thermoelectric modules. *Nat Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 1424.
- (31) Savagatrup, S.; Zhao, X.; Chan, E.; Mei, J.; Lipomi, D. J. Effect of Broken Conjugation on the Stretchability of Semiconducting Polymers. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2016**, *37* (19), 1623-1628.
- (32) Oyaizu, K.; Nishide, H. Radical Polymers for Organic Electronic Devices: A Radical Departure from Conjugated Polymers? *Adv. Mater.* **2009**, *21* (22), 2339-2344.
- (33) Rostro, L.; Baradwaj, A. G.; Boudouris, B. W. Controlled Radical Polymerization and Quantification of Solid State Electrical Conductivities of Macromolecules Bearing Pendant Stable Radical Groups. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces.* **2013**, *5* (20), 9896-9901.
- (34) He, J.; Mukherjee, S.; Zhu, X.; You, L.; Boudouris, B. W.; Mei, J. Highly Transparent Crosslinkable Radical Copolymer Thin Film as the Ion Storage Layer in Organic Electrochromic Devices. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces.* **2018**, *10* (22), 18956-18963.
- (35) Baradwaj, A. G.; Wong, S. H.; Laster, J. S.; Wingate, A. J.; Hay, M. E.; Boudouris, B. W. Impact of the Addition of Redox-Active Salts on the Charge Transport Ability of Radical Polymer Thin Films. *Macromolecules*. **2016**, *49* (13), 4784-4791.
- (36) Joo, Y.; Agarkar, V.; Sung, S. H.; Savoie, B. M.; Boudouris, B. W. A Nonconjugated Radical Polymer Glass with High Electrical Conductivity. *Science*. 2018, 359 (6382), 1391-1395.
- (37) Wang, S.; Park, A. M. G.; Flouda, P.; Easley, A. D.; Li, F.; Ma, T.; Fuchs, G. D.; Lutkenhaus, J. L. Solution Processable Thermally Crosslinked Organic Radical Polymer Battery Cathodes. *ChemSusChem.* 2020, *13* (9), 2371-2378.
- (38) Akkiraju, S.; Vergados, J.; Hoagland, L.; Lu, Z.; Anandan, V.; Boudouris, B. W. Design of Mixed Electron- and Ion-Conducting Radical Polymer Based Blends. *Macromolecules*. 2021, 54 (11), 5178-5186.
- (39) Chi, T.; Akkiraju, S.; Liang, Z.; Tan, Y.; Kim, H. J.; Zhao, X.; Savoie, B. M.; Boudouris, B.W. Design of an n-type Low Glass Transition Temperature Radical Polymer. *Polym. Chem.* 2021, *12* (10), 1448-1457.
- (40) Wickam, J. A.; Beaudoin, S. P.; Son, S. F. The Role of Adhesion and Binder Stiffness in the Impact Sensitivity of Cast Composite Energetic Materials. J. Appl. Phys. 2020, 128, 214902.

- (41) Celina, M. C.; Wiggins, J. S.; Billingham, N. C. Aging of the Binder in Plastic-Bonded Explosive PBX 9501 and Free Radical Oxidation, in: *Polymer Degradation and Performance*. American Chemical Society, Washington DC, **2009**.
- (42) Hoffman, D. M. Dynamic Mechanical Signatures of a Polyester-Urethane and Plastic-Bonded Explosives Based on this Polymer. J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 2001, 83 (5), 1009-1024.
- (43) Stacer, R. G.; Husband, D. M. Molecular Structure of the Ideal Solid Propellant Binder. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* **1991**, *16* (4), 167-176.
- (44) Jabeen, I.; Pleban, K.; Rinner, U.; Chiba, P.; Ecker, G. F. Structure–Activity Relationships, Ligand Efficiency, and Lipophilic Efficiency Profiles of Benzophenone-Type Inhibitors of the Multidrug Transporter P-Glycoprotein. *J. Med. Chem.* **2012**, *55* (7), 3261-3273.
- (45) Sato, K.; Sukegawa, T.; Oyaizu, K.; Nishide, H. Synthesis of Poly(TEMPO-Substituted Glycidyl ether) by Utilizing t-BuOK/18-Crown-6 for an Organic Cathode-Active Material. *Macromol. Symp.* 2015, 351 (1), 90-96.
- (46) Kim, H. J.; Perera, K.; Liang, Z.; Bowen, B.; Mei, J.; Boudouris, B. W. Radical Polymer-Based Organic Electrochemical Transistors. *ACS Macro Lett.* **2022**, *11*, 243-250.
- (47) Nishimura, I.; Kameyama, A.; Nishikubo, T. Synthesis of Self-Photosensitizing Polyesters Carrying Pendant Norbornadiene (NBD) Moieties and Benzophenone Groups and Their Photochemical Reactions. **1998**, *31* (9), 2789-2796.
- (48) Lin, A. A.; Sastri, V. R.; Tesoro, G.; Reiser, A.; Eachus, R. On the Cross-Linking Mechanism of Benzophenone-Containing Polyimides. *Macromolecules*. **1988**, 21 (4), 1165-1169.
- (49) Kita, H.; Inada, T.; Tanaka, K.; Okamoto, K. Effect of Photocrosslinking on Permeability and Permselectivity of Gases Through Benzophenone-Containing Polyimide. *J. Membr. Sci.* 1994, 87 (1-2), 139-147.
- (50) Qu, B.; Xu, Y.; Ding, L.; Rånby, B. A New Mechanism of Benzophenone Photoreduction in Photoinitiated Crosslinking of Polyethylene and Its Model Compounds. J. Polym. Sci. A Polym. Chem. 2000, 38 (6), 999-1005.
- (51) Menard, K. P.; Menard, N. R. An Introduction to Dynamic Mechanical Analysis, in: *Dynamic Mechanical Analysis*. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, **2020**.
- (52) Menard, K. P.; Menard, N. R. Dynamic Testing and Instrumentation, in: *Dynamic Mechanical Analysis*. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, **2020**.
- (53) McAninch, I. M.; Palmese, G. R.; Lenhart, J. L.; La Scala, J. J. DMA Testing of Epoxy Resins: The Importance of Dimensions. *Polym. Eng. Sci.* **2015**, *55* (12), 2761-2774.
- (54) Menard, K. P.; Menard, N. R. Time and Temperature Scans Part I: Transitions in Polymers, in: *Dynamic Mechanical Analysis*. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, **2020**.

- (55) Pauler, D. K.; Kress, J. D.; Lightfoot, J. M.; Woods, L. Russell, B. G. Decomposition of Nitroplasticizer in Plastic Bonded Explosive PBX 9501. *AIP Conf. Proc.* 2006, 845, 547-550.
- (56) Menard, K. P.; Menard, N. R. Frequency Scans, in: *Dynamic Mechanical Analysis*. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, **2020**.
- (57) Hoffman, M.; Caley, L. E. Polymer Blends as High Explosive Binders. *Polym. Eng. Sci.* 1986, 26 (21), 1489-1499.
- (58) Hoffman, D. M. Dynamic Mechanical Signature of Viton A and Plastic Bonded Explosives Based on This Polymer. *Polym. Eng. Sci.* **2003**, *43* (1).
- (59) Blumenthal, W. R.; Gray III, G. T.; Idar, D. J.; Holmes, M. D.; Scott, P. D.; Cady, C. M. Cannon, D. D. Influence of temperature and strain rate on the mechanical behavior of PBX 9502 and Kel-F 800TM. *AIP Conf. Proc.* **2000**, *505* (1), 671-674.
- (60) Badgujar, D. M.; Talawar, M. B. Asthana, S. N.; Mahulikar, P. P. Advances in science and technology of modern energetic materials: An overview. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2008, 151 (2-3), 289-305.
- (61) Liu, J.; Yang, Z.; Liu, S.; Zhang, J.; Liu, Y. Effects of Fluoropolymer Binders on the Mechanical Properties of TATB-Based PBX. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* **2018**, *43* (7), 664-670.
- (62) Dallman, J. C.; Wackerle, J. Temperature-Dependent Shock Initiation of TATB-Based High Explosives. *Tenth Symposium (International) on Detonation*, Boston, MA, USA, July 12 16, **1993**, 130.
- (63) Field, J. E. Deformation, Fracture and Explosive Properties of Reactive Materials. USARDSG Technical Report No. R&D 4380A-R-AN, **1989**.
- (64) Ji, Y.; Liu, Y.; Li, Y.; Xiao, H.; Du, S.; Zhang, J.; Hu, N.; Fu, S. Significantly Enhanced Electrical Conductivity of Silver Nanowire/Polyurethane Composites via Graphene Oxide as Novel Dispersant. *Compos. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *132* (23), 57-67.

3. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

3.1 Conclusions

In Chapter 2, a mock energetic material with high solids loading and electrical conductivity was reported. Conductive radical polymers, poly(4-glycidyloxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine-1-oxyl) (PTEO) and PTEO-*co*-glycidyloxybenzophenone (PTEO-GBP), were used as binders and sugar particles, the inert solid filler, were loaded at 90% (by weight). Silver nanowires (AgNWs) were added at loadings ranging from 0% to 5% and macroscopic conductivities of ~1 S cm⁻¹ were observed. The viscoelastic behavior of the polymers and the composite materials were characterized by dynamic mechanical analysis (DMA). The viscoelastic behavior of PTEO and PTEO-GBP-bound composites was similar to Kel F-800-bound plastic bonded explosives (PBXs). Specifically, PTEO and PTEO-GBP exhibited a similar glass transition temperature (T_g) to that of Kel F-800 (~30 °C), similar storage moduli, and similar damping factors across the measured temperatures.¹ Thus, PTEO and PTEO-GBP could bind an insensitive explosive, such as 1,3,5-triamino-2,4,6-trinitrobenzene (TATB), that does not require a soft, desensitizing binder with a low T_g. This effort represents the first step in developing a highly conductive energetic composite with the ability to be resistively heated. Further experimentation and optimization of the system will determine the utility and performance of the proposed composite.

3.2 Future Work

The DMA results of the neat polymers and the sugar composites give a sense of the mechanical behavior of these materials over a wide range of temperatures. However, compressive and tensile stress-strain experiments are needed to determine the moduli, the strength, and the strain capability of the polymers and composites. Because stress-strain tests are frequently performed on energetic materials, these experiments will provide more data by which to compare the proposed energetic composite to commonly used energetic materials.²⁻⁹ Additionally, these experiments will further elucidate the effect the crosslinker (GBP) and AgNWs have on the mechanical properties of the composites. Furthermore, the composites discussed in Chapter 2 contained a monomodal size distribution of sugar particles with a mean particle diameter of 150 µm. Using a bimodal particle size distribution could enhance the solids loading capability of PTEO

and PTEO-GBP by improved packing of the particles in the polymer matrix. Thus, manipulating the particle size distribution of the composite material could provide a method to improve the mechanical properties.

The composites discussed in Chapter 2 were prepared by a solvent-antisolvent method due to the relatively high T_g of PTEO and PTEO-GBP and its high viscosity above its T_g . Lowering the T_g of the polymer and decreasing its viscosity could allow PTEO-based and PTEO-GBP-based composites to be processed by a cast-curing procedure. This could be accomplished by adjusting the PTEO to GBP ratio in the copolymer, adding a plasticizing agent, or a combination of the two strategies. The ability to prepare PTEO-based composites by solvent-antisolvent and cast-curing methods would provide more flexibility in the processing of such composites and thus, expand the potential applications of the material.

The motivation in designing an electrically conductive energetic material is to give the material the ability to be heated upon the application of an electric current (i.e., resistive heating). Thus, experiments that quantify the resistive heating ability of the composite material are needed. Preliminary tests of the kind have been performed but heating of the material was primarily observed at the interface between the electrical contacts and the mock energetic material. This effect is attributed to poor contact between the electrode and the composite, which resulted in charge accumulation and hot spot formation. Therefore, annealing the composite material above the T_g of the binder with electrical clips attached could result in improved contact of the electrodes and eliminate hot spot formation at the contacts. Then, the resistive heating ability of the composite can be observed without the interfacial effects present in previous experiments. With an understanding of the resistive heating ability of the mock energetic material, the usefulness of the material in modern applications will be better established.

PTEO and PTEO-GBP were chosen as the binders in the conductive composite due to their proven ability to conduct electrons at length scales < 600 nm.^{10,11} AgNWs were added to connect electrically conductive domains of PTEO, thus allowing the material to conduct at the macroscale. The contribution of the radical polymer to the macroscopic conductivity of the composite could be investigated by fabricating a composite material containing AgNWs that is bound by an electrically insulating polymer. The conductivity of such a composite would shed light on the degree to which the radical network provided by PTEO contributes to the macroscopic electrical conductivity.

After preliminary mechanical, electrical, and thermoelectric properties of the mock energetic material have been measured, its compatibility with live energetics must be ensured. After mixing PTEO and PTEO-GBP with live energetics, differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), impact, friction, and electrostatic discharge sensitivity tests can be performed to ensure the sensitivity and safety profile of the energetic composites are acceptable. Then, the mechanical and electrical characterization of the energetic composite can be performed and compared to the mock energetic material.

The electrically conductive energetic composite proposed here shows promising conductivity and high solids loading capability. This suggests that the material possesses the ability to be resistively heated, which could provide utility in energetics applications. The viscoelastic response of the material as determined by DMA reveals relatively stiff behavior, relative to other energetic composites. Decreasing the stiffness and viscosity of the polymer binders presented here could broaden the scope of their potential application in energetic materials. Lastly, further mechanical and electrical characterization is necessary to determine the ultimate utility of the material in modern energetic applications.

3.3 References

- Liu, J.; Yang, Z.; Liu, S.; Zhang, J.; Liu, Y. Effects of Fluoropolymer Binders on the Mechanical Properties of TATB-Based PBX. *Propellants Explos. Pyrotech.* 2018, 43 (7), 664-670.
- (2) Peeters, R. L. Characterization of Plastic-Bonded Explosives. J. Reinf. Plast. Compos. 1982, 1, 131-140.
- (3) Idar, D. J.; Thompson, D. G.; Gray III, G. T.; Blumenthal, W. R.; Cady, C. M.; Peterson, P. D.; Roemer, E. L.; Wright, W. J.; Jacquez, B. J. Influence of Polymer Molecular Weight, Temperature, and Strain Rate on the Mechanical Properties of PBX 9501. *AIP Conf. Proc.* 2002, 620, 821-824.
- (4) Gray III, G. T.; Blumenthal, W. R.; Idar, D. J.; Cady, C. M. Influence of Temperature on the High-strain-rate Mechanical Behavior of PBX 9501. *AIP Conf. Proc.* 1998, *429*, 583-586.
- (5) Palmer, S. J. P.; Field, J. E.; Huntley, J. M. Deformation, Strengths and Strains to Failure of Polymer Bonded Explosives. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A.* 1993, *440*, 399-419.
- (6) Shekhar, H. Studies on Final Modulus of Solid Rocket Propellants in Uni-axial Tensile Testing Curves. *Sci. Tech. Energetic Materials*. 2010, *71* (4), 106-110.

- (7) Shekhar, H. Effects of Temperature on Mechanical Properties of Solid Rocket Propellants. *Def. Sci. J.* 2011, *61* (6), 529-533.
- (8) Jun, W. Z.; Fu, Q. H.; Guang. W.; Jun, Z. Z. Effects of Low Temperature and High Strain Rate on the Tensile Behaviors of High-Performance Energetic Composite. *MATEC Web Conf.* 2016, 67, 06013.
- (9) Tong, X.; Xu, J.; Chen, X.; Zheng, Y. The Mechanical Response of a Composite Propellant under Harsh Conditions. *Int. J. Mech. Mater.* 2017, *11* (10), 1713-1717.
- (10) Akkiraju, S.; Vergados, J.; Hoagland, L.; Lu, Z.; Anandan, V.; Boudouris, B. W. Design of Mixed Electron- and Ion-Conducting Radical Polymer Based Blends. *Macromolecules*. 2021, 54 (11), 5178-5186.
- (11) Joo, Y.; Agarkar, V.; Sung, S. H.; Savoie, B. M.; Boudouris, B. W. A Nonconjugated Radical Polymer Glass with High Electrical Conductivity. *Science*. 2018, *359* (6382), 1391-1395.